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SITRE I. () J
MAJOR GENERAL PHILLIPS,

AND THE

O: Tk B O PP TCE RS
: wnoj SERVED IN THE ARMY COMMANDED BY

LIEUTENANT GENERAL BURGOYNE,

UPON AN
EXPEDITION FROM CANADA,

GENTLEMEN, "
PROPRI‘ET’ﬂ and affe@ion alike incline me to infcribe to you the follows
ing undertaking. We are mutual and peculiar fufferers by the event of the
campaign in 1777. You were witnefles .and judges of my -aftions; but]
owed you an account of the principles which direted them,

Another motive for this Addrefs is to avail myfelf of a proper public op-
portunity to repeat to yon, what I have omitted no occafion of exprefling in
Parliament, in correfpondence, and in converfation—the falleft approbation
of your {ervices. My errors may have been numberlefs ; your condué& has
been uMiform—faithful, gallant and indefatigable. Debarred of the powes
of doing vou juftice before the King, thefe teftimonies are the only means to
which my efteem and gratitude can refort.

After vindicating myfelf as a commanding officer from any inattention ‘tc
vour intereft or fame, I next throw myfelf upon your judgment for my con.
du& as a friend. :

You will find by this publication, and fome others, which though no
addrefied to you will probably engage your curiofity, that I have been accufeg
of fhrinking from the common captivity.
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1 bave been fupported under that afperfion by the confcionfnefs T did not
deferve it, and the confidence that you (to whom chiefly upon that charge
1 was refponfible) would not adopt it. - After the fortunes we have run to-
gether, it is not furely unworthy of belief, that I thould rather have defired,
than avoided to partake the clofing fcene : uniting with a due fenfe of per-
fonal attachments, the prefervation of my military fortune, and a retreat
from the difiractions of my country. The defence of your bonour and my
own, at one time, and refiftance to an afiront * which my nature could not
bear, at another, alone detained me here,

In regard to my. political trapfactions, I have flated them, and T with
them to be confidered by my friends, apart from my miltary condult. I
bear very high refpe&t to fome eminent and ill-treated charaters in our pro-
feffion, who in deference to the tranquility of government, have filently re-
figned the ftations which they could no longer hold with fecurity to their
honour, or benefit to the ftate. But the option is not left to thofe, who ha-
ving a voice in Parliament are obliged to a&t as citizens as well as foldiers,
"The number of officers altogether of the army and navy, who with known
love to their country and profeffional fpirit equally confpicuous, have vo-
luntarily withdrawn themfelves from employment within thef® two years,
exceeds all precedent. I do not place my name in the fit with the fame
pretenfions; bpt it is not arrogant to emulate where we cannot compare ;
and I am defirous of following the high examples before me in no point
more than in that of avoiding to difturb the zeal of thofe who are now em-
ployed. The officers who have held it their duty to take part in oppofition,
have alled openly and dired@ly in their place in Parliament ; but they may

* The part of my - treatment which I call an affrent upon this and other occafionsgis the re=
fufal of my ferviee in this country, even at the head of my own regiment, or as a volunteer,
in the time of exigency, and when other officers precifely in my own fituation were employed.
My complaint of this partiality has never been officially ‘anfwered 3 it has only been evaded by
anonymous writers, who have laid it down as a pofition, that I meant to allude to the example
of Lord Harrington (with which it certainly has nothing to do) and then have taken a merit in
refuting me. 'L he particular example to which I appeal is that of Licutenant Colonel King-
fton, of the 86th regiment, appointed to that regiment, employed in it for the defence of Ply-
mouth, and a&vally now embarking with it for foreign fervice, under the {fame terms of the
convention, and the fame terms of parole to the Conéreﬁ verbatim with myfelf. Other objec-
tions, and of a nature that could not be afterwards {fupported, were tried againt' the Duke of
Ritland’s recommendation of this excellegt officer : but the objeétion of parole, though fully
known to be precilely the fame with that which was {o peremptorily urged againft my preten-
fions, was ncver mentioned,
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defy malice to thew an inftance wherein they have not encouraged ardour in
their profeflion. They contemplate with one and the fame fentiment the
great fupply of honourable men to occupy their places.

You, Gentlemen, fiand high in that defcription; your trials have made
you of flerling value; and perhaps it will be better difcerned by men in
power, when no longer viewed through the umfavourable medium of my
. friendfhip. 1f my exhortations retain their former weight, let me be permit-
ted earneftly to apply them upon this occaffon.  The examples of gencrals or
admirals who decline employment, refpe@ only fimilar cafes ; your honour is-
fecure : look not at profeffional difappointments; but point all your views
to the troe glory of your King and country, and truft for the rgward..

O Jfocii (neque enim ignari fumus ante Malorum).
.- O paffi graviora: dabit Deus his quogue finem..

This paffage will bring to the remembrance of fome among you a hard hour
when we before quoted it together, and nat without {ome cheer of mind.
May the end of your enduring be near! And with every other with and.
fentiment that can denote eftcem, I have the honour to be,

Gentlemen, a
Your moft faithful and moft obedient
humble fervant,

IertfordsStreety.
Tan. 1, 1780, J. BURGOYNE,.
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WI—IEN it becomes neceflary for men who have afted critical parts in
public ftations to make an appeal to the world in their own juftification, there
are many prudential confiderations which might lead them to commit the
care of it to friends, or, which is in many refpe@s the fame thing, to defend
themfelves under an affumed charaler. The chargc of vanity ufually made
on egotifm is thus eluded : a fuller fcope may be given to fgf-love and parti-
cuhr refentment : even the lower vexations which attend an author are to a'
great degree avoided : the ill-nature of criticifmr is feldom awakened by
anonymous writings, and the venal pens of party lofe half their gall when the
object of it is not perfonally and diretly in queftion.

But there are fituations, in which, not only general affent feems to juftify
a man in fpeaking of himfelf, but in which%alfo no little confideration ought
to be admitted to the mind. Such will be the cale, if 1am not deceived,
when the interefts of the public are blended with thofe of the individual ;.
and when his very crrors may ferve as infiru@ion to others. Misfortunes

.which awaken fenfibility will be a further, and a perfuafive call, upon the
attention of the public; and it will amount to a claim upon their jufice, if
he can thew that he bas been injurioufly treated.

!'pon maturely weighing thefe and fever8l: other circumftances, after I had
been denied a profefflional examination of my condu&, and difappointed of
a parliamentary one, I determined to lay before the public a ftate of the expe-.
dition from Canada, in 1777, in my own name. And my firft defign was
to do it under the title, and with the latitude of Memoirs; as a mode by
which T could beft open the principles of my ations, and introduce, with
moft propriety, collateral charaflers, incidents, and difcuffions, as they might
eccafionally tend to illuftrate the main {ubject.

However, in the laft feffion of Parliament, the enquiry which had not
been agreed to the year before, took place. 1 had prefled it, and I entered

into it under all the difadvantages which attend a ftruggle with power, and
~ the
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the prejudice that power can raife againft the perfons it means to deftroy.
The utmoft that power could do was done; the Paliament was prorogued
pending the proceedings. But though by this contrivance, a final and for-
mal adjudication by that auguft affembly was avoided, their minutes ftand a

{acred record of truth and juftice, and the moft fatisfaCtory reliance to which
my wifhes could afpire, in offering my actions to the judgment of my country

-

at large.
Frowm that time, therefore, I refolved to publith, inftead of Memoirs, the

Proceedings precifcly as they pafled in Parliament, and to continue my de-
fence by fuch Obfervations and Comments upon the Evidence, as 1 fhould have
had a right, and.was prepared to make, had the proceedings in the houfe

continued. ¥ a

Poffibly ig this latter part fome colour of my original defign may remain.
The fcenes I have been engaged in are uncommon, and it is a natural defire
to place them in a full light. ‘The interefts concerned make that defire more
urgent; and I dare believe they will be beft guarded by being moft ex-
plained, .

% The order in which the committee in the Houfe of Commons proceeded was, to hear Sir
William Howe'’s Narrative, refpe&ing his conduét whilft in command in America, and fuch
evidence as he thought proper to bring in fupport of it. They next heard my Narrative and
Evidence, refpeing the condu& of the expedition from Canada. Lord George Germaia then
opened a defence on his part, and fummoned witnefles to fupportit.  According to the arrange-
ment made by the committee, Sir William Howe and myfelf were afterwards to be heard in
reply ; but the proceedings were ended by the prorogation of Parliament before the examina~
tion of Lord George’s fecond witnefs, Mr, Galloway, was clofed, and there were fixteen or eigh-
teen more upon his lift.  The order in which the following papers are placed is—1ft. The Pre-
fatory Speech. 2d. The Narrative. 3d. Minutes of the verbal evidence. 4th, Review of the
evidence, with Remarks and Explanauons,&c. gth. An Appendix, conteining the written ¢vi-

dence.

0



The Sreecu of Lieutenant General BurcovyNE, prefatory
to his NARRATIVE.

Mr. Mo~TAGU, .

BEFORE I enter upon the narrative, which the precedent of your late proceeding

authorifes me to lay before you, I think it a duty to the committee, to promife
that I fhall trouble them with little other matter than fuch as may be neceffary to
elucidate the tranfactions of the campaign 1777, in that quarter where I commanded.

I fhall keep in mind, that to explain the caufes of the difafter at Saratoga is the
principal point to which all my evidence ought to lead : but at the fame time, 1 fhall
take confidence in the juftice and benevolence of my hearers, that where arguments
in exculpation of the commander can aptly be combined with a faithful reprefenta-
tion of faéts, they will not be deemed forcign to the main objeét urfer their confi-
deration,

Upon thefe ideas, though fome introduftory explanations are requifite, I fhall
fupprefs the inclination 1 at firft conceived, of ftaring my conduét from the time,
when, conjointly with my honourable friendewho took the lead in this enquiry,* 1
was called to the unfolicited and unwelcome fervice in America: nor will I enume-
rate the complicated circumftances of private misfortune and ill health under which
I purfued it. Prudence, as well as .other propriety, is, 1 confefs, confulted in this
fuppreflion ; for were it feen, that an officer had blénded with the refpect due to
- authority, warm, though difinterefted perfonal attachments ; that under a perfuafion
of the honour and integrity of the king's fervants, he had united to his zcal for the
public caufe an intereft in their private credit and ambition; would it not be con-
ceived, that his guilt muft have been atrocious, beyond all excufe or palliation, to
induce the very men to whom his endeavours, and his faculties, fuch as they were,
had been thus devoted, not only completely to defert him, but to preclude him, as
far as in them lay, from every means of defence, and if poflible, to ruin him in the
opinion of the king, the army, and the country?

An earneft defire to fave, as much as pofiible, the time of the committee, would
alfo diffuade me from recurring to any points previous to my inftructions which have
been difcuffed upon former occafions; but I find that great ftrefs is ftill Jaid to my
prejudice upon a paper which found its way to the houfe during my abfence : I mean
% the private letter to the noble lord, fecretary for the American department, dated
£ 1ft January, 1777.%

B The noble Lord has frequently ftated that letter to have lipped inadvertently into
‘the parcel deftined for the houfe, and I give credit in that particular to hisaffertion ¢

B . becaule,
* Sir William Howe,
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PREFATORY SPEECH

becaufe, whatever other impreffions he might have found it his int.crc& to make re-
fpeéting me, he certainly would not have thought that the imputation on me which
that letter tended to fix, a proper one for bim to put forward: it is a notorious fact,
or T would not mention it, thatit has been held a reflection upon my charaéter (by
the part of the public with whom the noble lord is unpopular) that I addreffed him
as a patron and friend. [

"This is an imputation to which I muft plead guilty; for at the time I wrote that
letter, I certainly did hold that noble lord as my friend, and I had alted to deferve
ke fhould be fo. The next ill tendency of that paper was, as the noble lord
well knows, to imprefs the public with an opinion, that I was endeavouring to
fupplant Sir Guy Carleton in the command of the northern army—an action
abhorrent to the honour of an officer and the liberality of a gentleman; and of
which, thank God, I can prove the falfehood, by irrefragable evidence upon your
table, and in a very fmall compafs. I need only refer to the difpatches to Sir Guy
Carleton by hts aid de-camp, dated 22d Auguft, 1776,* four months before I came
home, to fhew that it was at that time determined, that Sir Guy Carleton thould
remain in Canada; and that determination was made, as I have been informed, not
only upon the political reafoning which appears in that difpatch, but alfo, upon
great law opinions, that he could notg under the commiffion he then held under the
great feal, pafs the frontiers of his province. Sir, this confutation was urged by
me laft year; and were collateral proof neceffary to my juftification upon this fub-
jé&, 1 could bring to your bar a tribe of gentlemen, who had fmbibed impreflions
not very favourable to the military proceedings of Sir Guy Carleton in the campaign
of 1776: I could fhew that I feized numberlefs, indeed I feized every poflible oc-
cafion to vindicate the judgment, the affiduity, the activity of that highly rcfpeétable
officer, carelefs how ill I paid my court, earneft to meet every attack againft his fame,

1 beg leave alfo to call the attention of the committee very particularly to one
other paper, the date of which is previous to my departure from England : it is en-
titled, “* Thoughts for conducting the War from the Side of Canada, by Lieutenant
« General Burgoyne.”* Sir, it will be in the recollection -of the committee, whe-
ther, when the conduct of the war was under confideration laft year in my abfence,
it was not underftood, that the plan of the northern expedition was formed upon that
paper as produced upon your table ? If fo, I muft afk the noble lord, why he fuffer-
ed that error to prevail 2 The noble lord knew, (and it was peculiarly his duty to
declare it) that the two propofals, the firft of turning the expedition eventually to-
wards Conneéticut ; and the fecond, of embarking the army in the river St. Law-~§
rence, in order to effeét a junétion with Sir William Howe by fea, in cafe the attemptf
by land appeared “ impratticable, or too hazardous,” were erafed" while the pape
was tnchis lordfhip’s hands, '

Ero
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. From that paper, as it appeared without erafures, naturally arofe the conclufion, that
the plan I had to execute was completely my own; upon that paper were founded, as
naturally, the doubts which have been entertained upon the peremptory tenor of my
inftru&ions. I muft again afk the noble lord, upon what principle of juftice he fuf-
fered thofe impreflions to exift in this houfe? Why, in a debate in which he took a
part, did he conceal, that the circumftances in reality were totally different from
thofe upon which -gentlemen reafoned; that the diferetion referved in the paper be-
fore the houfe was taken away, and confequently, that my orders were rendered ab-
folute in the ftriéteft fenfe by his own alterations?

Let any gentleman who has fuppofed I had an implied latitude for my condut,
now compare this circumftance with the wording of the letter to Sir Guy Carleton,
dated March 26, 1777, with a copy of which I was furnifhed, and *extraéts from
which were afterwards the only orders I had to aét upon. *

I fhall take no particular notice of what is called the faving claufc, in the latter o - o

Appendix
part of the orders, except to give the flatteft contradition to the fuppefition that T~ No.1v.
dictated it—a fuppofition that I know is not yeg abandoned by the men who firft fug-
gefted it. I have fpoke to it very fully upon a former occafion;t and I do not with,
when it can be avoided, to enforce or reiterate the charges of duplicity and treachery
which muft enfue, if that claufe could be fuppofed to have reference to any condudt
previous to my arrival at Albany. The circumftance of forbidding me the latitude

,.in the two particulars I had propofed in my plan, and many other circumftances,

clearly indicating the decided intentions and expe&ations of the minifters, rendered
the fenfe of the whole order taken together clear and diftin¢t, and fhewed that the
claufe which is pretended to have left me a difcretion as to my main objeét, had no
fort of relation to that objet. That claufe evidently related not to my forcing my
way, or not forcing it, to Albany, the place of my deftination, but to fuch collateral
and eventual operations as might be advifeable in the courfe of my march. It related
to the making impreflion upon the rebels, and bringing them to obedience, in fuch
manner as exigencies might require, and in my judgment might feem moft proper,
previous to receiving orders from Sir William Howe, ¢ of my junétion with whom I
was never to lofe view.”

Notwithftanding there has been fo much difcuffion in debate and print upon the

" interpretation of abfolute orders, the committee, I am confident, will abfolve me,
}though, at the expence of a few moments more, I fhould continue a fubjeét upon
“which the merit or blame of the future proceedings in great meafure refts.

T do not admit the pofition, that there can be no cafe in which an officer atting at a
diftance is bound at every hazard to purfuc orders, that appear abfolute and decifive.
% 4 B2 Ie

‘% + The debate upon Mr. Vyoer's motion, May 28, 1778; the fpeech was publifhed,




PREFATORY SPEECH.

It is eafy to conccive circumffances, which might juftify a ftate in hazarding an
army, for the fake of facilitating great and decifive objects. Gentlemen, converfant
in militaty hiftory, will recolle¢t many examples of this principle: upon a former
occafion, T ftated a fuppofed cafe;* and I now entreat leave to add a real example of
peremptory orders, which happened in the courfe of my own fervice, T have ever re-
tained the impreflion, that the circumftance Iam going to relate, made upon my mind
at the time; and to thofe few who may {till think, that in any part of my condu, I
rafhly rifked my peace, my intereft or my fame, to forward the withes of others, this
prepoffeffion may in fome meafure account for, and excufe my imprudence.

In the campaign of 1762, in Portugal, the Count La Lippe, a name, which, if it
finds a due hiftorian, will ftand among the firft in military fame, was placed at the
head of about‘6oo0 Britifh troops, and a Portuguefe army, the greater part of which
was little better than nominal, to defend an extenfive frontier agdinft the whole force
of Spain, and a large body of the veteran troops of France. The felvation of Por-
tugal depended folely on the capacity of that great man, which united the deepeft
political reafoning with exquifite miMtary addrefs.

I had the honour to be entrufted with the defence of the moft important pafs
upon the Tagus, and my orders were peremptory to maintain it againft any numbers,
and to the Jaft man. :

A felect corps of the enemy, greatly fuperior to mine, were encamped within fight
on the other fide the river, and our advanced pofts were within half mufquer fhot.

In this fituation, I received intelligence from Count La Lippe, of a defign of the
enemy to pafs the Tagus in force, about fix miles above me, and to take pofieffion of
the open country in my rear, with a large corps of cavalry, by which means all com-
munication, fupply, or fafe retreat, would be cut off. ‘

‘Together with this intelligence, the Count’s letter exprefled, ¢ That every delay
“ to the enemy in getting pofleflion of the pafs I guarded, was fo material to his
“ other plans and operations, that it juftified a deviation from fyftematic rules; that,
« therefore, after taking timely precautions to fecure the retreat of my cavalry, I
¢ muft abide the confequénce with the infantry; that at the laft extremity, I muft
‘¢ abaudon my cannon, camp, &c. and with fuch provifion as the men could carry

-

* The cafe alluded to was put in a former debate, as follows: fuppofe the Britifh army that invaded 3¢
Britany in 1758, had gained a complete victory over the Duke D’Aiguillon; to have marched rapidly.
towards Paris, abandoning the communication with the fleet, expofing the army poffibly to great want o
provifion, and to the impracticability of retreat, would certainly have been a meafure confummately defé
perate and unjuftifiable, if tried upon military fyflem: yer, will any man fay, that if that meafure muft
evidently have produced fuch alarm and confufion in the heart of France, as to have compelled the rec
of her whole force from Germany, or fuch part of it, as would have given uncontrouled fcope to 1
armies under the King of Pruffia and Prince Ferdinand, that the minifter of England would not have be
judicious, though at the palpable rifk of the army, us far as capture was concerned, in ordering th;i-

neral to proceed by the moft wigorous exertions, and to force his way to Paris ? ,
o« .
“ upon:
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« upon their backs, throw myfelf into the mountains upon my left, and endea-
« your, by fmall and difperfed parties, to gain a rendezvous at the northern part
« of the province.” I muft obferve, that when thefe peremptory orders were
given, the commander was at a diftance that made all timely communication of cir-
cumftances as impoffible, as if the Atlantic had been between us; and I cannot clofe
the example without mentioning the concluding part of Count La Lippe’s letter.
« He participated,” he faid, ¢ in the feelings with which an officer would be ftruck
« for his reputation, in fuffering himfelf to be cut, and reduced to facrifice his camp,
« his baggage, and twenty pieces of cannon. But e af eafé,” continued that great
and generous man, I will take the meafure entirely upon myfelf, perfevere as I bave
<« direcied, and be confident of my defence and proteéiion.” ‘Thiswas a faving claufe of a
nature very different from thofe it is the practice in the prefent ddy to pen; and if
any man doubts the quotation, I can bring pofitive evidence to the truth of it ver-
batim.

Thus much, Sir, T thought it incumbent upon me to ftate in argument againft
the pofition that has been infifted upon, .th®& no orders can be worded fo perempto-
rily at a diftance, as not to admit of an implied latitude, in cafe of unforefeen and
infurmountable difficulties: but to prevent all future cavil, upon this fubje, I re-
queft the committee to recollect, what I have again and again repeated; thatI by ne
means put my defence, in pafling the Hudfon’s River, folely upon this reafoning.
On the contrary, fuppofing for the argument’s fake, I thould concede (which I never
have done, nor mean to do) to the noble Lord, and to every other gentleman, all they
can defire to aflume upon implied latitude in given cafes, I hould equally prove that
no fuch cafe did exift, as would have juftified me upon their own principle, in de-
parting from the letter of the orders under which I acted.

Having thus cleared my way to the time of my leaving England, to take upon
me the command of the Northern expedition ; I fhall now lay before the committee
a narrative of its progrefs, in as concife and fimple terms, as the nature of the
fubject will allow, endeavouring to imitate the perfpicuity of the honourable gentle-
man who took the lead in this bufinefs, and not without hope of my endeavours pro-
ducing the fame effett; and that, in the opinion of the houfe, my Janguage, as has
been expreffed of his, will be deemed the language of truth.

N A R.
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T T is my intention, for the more ready comprehenfion of the whole fubject, to divide
it into three periods, The firft, from my appointment to the command, to the
end of my purfuit of the enemy from Ticonderoga ; the fecond, from that time to
the paflage of the Hudfon’s River ; and the third to the figning the convention. |
I left London on the 27th of March, and upon my departure from Plymouth,
finding the Albien man of war ready to fail for New-York, I wrote to Sir W, Howe
by that conveyance, upon the fubjeét of my expedition, and the nature of my orders,
I arrived at Quebec the 6th of May. Sir Guy Carleton immediately put under my
command the troops deftined for the expedition, and committed to rny management
the preparatory arrangements. From thence I wrote a fecond letter to Sir William
Howe, wherein I repeated that I was entrufted with the command of the army
deftined to march from Canada, and that my orders were to force a junétion with
his excellency.
I exprefled alfo my wifhes, ¢ that a latitude had been left me for a diverfion to-
¢« wards Conneéticut, but that fuch an idea being out of queftion, by my orders

¢ being precife to force the junétion, it was only mentioned to introduce the idea

« ftill refting upon my mind ; viz. to give the change to the enemy if I could, and
¢ by every feint in my power to eftablifh a fufpicion, thatI ftill pointed towards
« Connecticut.”

“ But,” I repeated, ¢ that under the prefent precifion of my orders, I fhould really
“ have no view but that of joining him, nor think myfelf juftified by any temp-
¢ tation to delay the moft expeditious means I could find to effeét that purpofe.”

1proceeded to Montreal on the 12th, and as my letters, lately laid before the houfe
from that place,* and from Quebec, will"ﬂ;'cw the ftate of things, I fhould not reft a
moment upon this period, were it not to add one more public teftimony, to thole I am
not confcious of having .omitted upon any occafion, of the affiduous and cordial

‘manaer in which the different fervices were forwarded by Sir Guy Carleton. 1 fhould
think it as difhonourable to feck, as I know it would be impofiible to find excufe

for any fault of mine in any failure on the part of Sir Guy Carleton, or ofany per-

fons who atted under him, in any matter refpecting the expedition. Had that .
officer been aéting for himfelf, or for his brother, he could not have fhewn more
indefarigable zeal than he did, to comply with and expedite my requifitions and3
defires. ‘
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Certain parts of the expefted force, neverthelefs, fell fhort. The Canadian
troops, ftated in the plan at 2000, confifted only of three companies, intended to be
of 100 men each, but in reality not amounting to more than 150 upon the whole; nor
could they be augmented. The corvées , which are detachments of provincials
without arms, to repair roads, convey provifions, orany other temporary employ-
ments for the king’s fervice, could not be obrained in fufficient number, nor kept to
their employments, although Sir Guy Carleton ufed every poffible exertion and en-
couragement for the purpofe. Drivers for the provifion carts, and other carriages,
could not be fully fupplied by the contrattor, though no expence was fpared; a
circumftance which occafioned much inconvenience afterwards.

To thefe unavoidable difappointments were added the difficulties occafioned by bad
weather, which rendered the roads almoft impraéticable at the carrying places, and
confequently the paffage of the batteaux, artillery, and baggage exceedingly dilatory :

we had befides a grea#cal of contrary wind. Notwithftanding all impediments the-
e

army affembled betweeh the 17th and 20th of June, at Cumberland Poiat, upon Lake
Champlain.

On the 21ft I held a conference with the Iroquois, Algonchins, Abencekies, and
Outawas, Indians, in all about four hundred,

This conference appears in your papers®. Ithought at the time that the cordiality
of the Indians over the whole continént might be depended upon, and their firft
operations tended to perfuade me into a belief of their utility. The prieft to whom
they feemed devoted, and the Britifh officers employed to conduét them, and to whofe

controul they engaged to fubmit, gained advantages, and fpread terror without bar-

" barity. The firlt party fent out made feveral of the enemy prifoners in the heat of .

action,, and treated them with European humanity.

During the movement of the. different corps to this-general rendezvous, I wrote a-

third letter to Sir William Howe. The chief purport of it was to give him * intelli-
¢ gence of my fituation at the time, andof my expectation of being before Ticonderoga

. “ between the zoth and 25th inftant ; , that 1 did not apprehend the effective ftrength

“of the army would amount to above 6505 men; that I meant to apply to Sir
“ Guy Carleton to fend a garrifon to. Ticonderoga when it fhould be reduced, but
“ thar I was apprehenfive he would not think himfelf authorifed by the King's orders
“ to comply ; that whenever, therefore, I might be able to effect the junction, Sir
“ Willlam would not expeét me to bring near the original number. I repeated my
“ perfeverance in the idea of giving jealoufy on the fide of Connecticut, and ac the

4 “ fame time my affurances, thatI fhould make no manceuvre that could procraftinate
& the great object of a junétion,”

: 1 ftate thefe different letters to Sir William Howe merely to fhew that my concep-

- Bion.of ‘the precifion of my orders was not upon after-thought, and taken up as an

excule
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excule when T found the expedition had failed ; bt a fixed decided fentiment coeval
with my knowledge of my command.

For a further proof of the fame fac, I begleave to ftate an cxtra& from my orders
to the army at Crown Point, June joth. The words were thefe.

« The army ‘embarks to-morrow to approach the enemy. The fervices required
“ of this particular expedition are critical and confpicuous. Dunng our progrefs ocr
« caflions may occur, in which, nor difficulty, nor labour, nor life are to be regarded.
¢« This army muft not retreat.” Were it neceflary, 1 could bring abundant coliateral
proof to the fame effe@t, and fhew that the idea of forcing a way to Albany by vi-
gorous exertions againft any oppoﬁtion we might meet, was general and fixt through
the whole army.

My proceedings from the time of aﬂ'cmblmc the army as before defcribed, to the
date of my public difpatch from Skcncfborough comprehending the manceuvres

*which forced tite enemy from Ticonderoga, and the a&ionw Skenefborough, Hu-

berton, and Fort Anne, are related at full in that difpatch.

It is the lefs neceffary to give the Committee further trouble upon this fubject, be-
caufe I believe no enemy can be found to arraign my condué in thofe days of fuc-
cefs; or if there were one, he could nof deprive me of the confolation, that I had his
Majelty’s full approbation and applaufe, ofwhlch it is known to many, I had a very
honourable and diftinguifhed proof.

All therefore that is neceffary before I quit this firft period of the campaign, is to
give a precife ftate of the effective firength of the army, at the time it affembled.

On the 1ft July, the day we encamped before Ticonderoga, the troops confifted of

‘Britifh rank and file - 3724
German ditto - 3016

6740 regulars, exclufive of artillery-men.

Canadians and Provincials, about 250
Indians about - 400

650
In regard to the artillery, I think this the proper place to retify the mifreprefenta-
tions that have prevailed refpecting the quantity employed. It has been ftated as far

beyond the neceffary proportion for the number of troops, an incumbrance to their

movements, and one caufe of what has been called the llow progrefs of the expedition.

In order to juftify this charge, a view of the whole mafs has been prefented to the
public without any explanation of its diftinct allotments ; and many have been led g
10 believe, that the whole was attached to the army throughout the campaign, and®
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fell into the enemy’s hands at aft—The intention of this reprefentation is obvious:
the allegation is falfe.

™ The faéts, as I thall prove them to the committee, are as follow. The whole origi-

nal train furnithed by Sir Guy Carleton confifted of fixteen heavy twenty-four poun-
ders ; ten heavy twelve-pounders ; eight medium twelve-pounders ; two light twenty-
four pounders; one light twelve-pounder; twenty-fix light fix pounders; feventeen
light three-pounders; fix eight-inch howitzers; fix five and a half inch howitzers;
two thirteen-inch mortars ; two ten-inch mortars; fix eight-inch mortars ; twelve five

" and a half-inch mortars ; and twenty-four four and two fifth-inch mortars.  Of thefe

two heavy twenty-four pounders were fent on board a fhip for the defence of Lake
Champlain, and the other fourteen were fent back to St. John’s. Of the heavy twelve-
pounders, fix were left at Ticonderoga, four ditto in the Royal George ; four medium
twelve-pounders at Fort George; one light twelve-pounder at Ticonderoga; two
light fix-pounders at Fort George ; four light fix-pounders at St. John’sy four light
-three-pounders at Tliconderoga ; five light three-pounders at St. John’s; two eight-
inch howitzers at Fort George; twoditto at St. John's; two five and a halfinch ho-
witzers at Fort George ; two thirteen-inch mortars in the Royal George; two ten-inch
mortars in ditto; four eight-inch mortars in dittd; four five and a half inch mortars
at Ticonderoga; four royal mortars in the Royal George; twelve coherns at Ticon-
deroga ; and eight cohorns in the Royal George.

The field-train therefore that proceeded with the army confifted of four medium
twelve-pounders; two light twenty-four pounders ; eighteen light fix-pounders, fix

'l'ight three-pounders; two eight-inch howitzers ; four five and a half-inch howitzers;

two eight-inch mortars, and four royals.
The carrying the twenty-four pounders (thoughthey were but two) has been fpoken

of as an error, and it is neceffary therefore to inform the commitree that they were of
a conftruétion lighter by 8oo weight than medium twelves, and to all intents and
purpofes field artillery.

This artillery was diftributed as follows.
Frafer’s corps, eftimated at three battalions,

Ten pieces, viz.

Four light fix-pounders.
Four light three-pounders, conftrutted for being occafionally carried on horfeback.,

Two royal howitzers.
German referve, under Colonel Breyman, eftimated at two battalions.
© Two light fix-pounders.
Two light three-pounders, and ferved by the Hefle Hanau artillery men.

The line of Britifh, four battalionsy
C : ’ Germans,
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Germans, five battalions,
'Total, nine battalions,

-

Three brizades of artillery, of four fix-pounders each 3 viz. one brigade for cach” :

wing, and one for the center.

From hence it appears that to fourteen battalions there were allotted twenty-fix
pieces of light artillery, T he cuftomary allotment. is two pieces per battalion, con-
fequently the proportion of artillery was lefs than upon common fervices.

The forming artillery into brigades, in preference to detaching two guns to each bat-

- talion, has been conftantly practifed in moft fervices during laft war under the ableft
- men, and it is productive of many-advantages, as the brigades by that means, either

fingly or united, fall under the command of a pioportionable number of officers.
The fcrv:ce is carried on with greater regularity, and the effect of the fire becomes

- much more formidable than when fcattered along the front of the line.

This mode of fervice was recommended by Major-general Phillips, and -adopted

- without hefitation by me, my own judgmcnt being confirmed by an officer of his.

great fkill and experience.
The park artillery confifted-of sen pieces, viz.

2 light twenty-four pounders.

4 medium twelve-pounders.

2 eight-inch howitzers.

2 royal howitzers.
- T underftood this proportion of field artillery to be the fame as that propofed
by Sir Guy Carleton had he commanded; it was the proportion recommended by
General Phillips, and I formed my opinion conformably to the fentiments of thofe
refpectable officers upon the following reafons, viz. that artillery was extremely for-.
midable to raw troops; that in a country of pofts it was effentially neceflary againft
the beft troops; that it was yet more applicable to the enemy we were to combat,
becaufe the mode of defence they invariably adopted, and at which they were be-
yond all other nations expert, was that of entrenchment covered with ftrong abbatis,
againft which the cannon, of the nature of the heavieft above defcribed, and howit-
zers might often be effectual, when to diflodge them by any other means might be
attended with centinued and important loffes.

In thefe gencral ideas of the ufe of artillery againft the rebel forces, T have the
happinefs to cbferve, from the papers before you, the concurrence of Sir William
Howe, who ftates fimilar ideas very fully in one of his requifitions to the fecretary
of ftate: but further reafons for not diminifhing the proportion of guns of fupelgg

=

calibre to fix-pounders in this train, were, firft, their ufe againft block-houfes (a

- {pecies of fortification peculiar-to America); fecondly, a probability that gun-boats

might be requifite for the fecurity of the water tranfport, on fome parts of the

o
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Hudfon’s River; but principally the intention of fortifying a camp at Albany, in

«cafe I fhould reach thar place, fhould meet with a fufficiency of provifion there, (as,

I was led to expect) and fhould find it expedient to pafs the winter there, without
communication with New-York.

With refpet to the quantity of ammunition attached to this artillery, it is to be
obferved, that the number of rounds accompanying the light pieces, and which,
were carried in finall carts, were not more than fufficient for a day’s attion,

Light fix-pounders — 124 rounds each.
Light three-pounders — 300 rounds.
Royal howitzers — 9o rounds.

The different referves of ammunition were chiefly conveyed by water in fcows
and batteaux; it certainly would not have been advifable, after a communica -
tion with Canada was at an end, to depend upon precarious fupplies from the fouth-
ward, and therefore it became neceflary (as far as the fervice would aliow) to carry
forward fuch ftores, as there was every appearance of an abfolute want of, during
the coygfe of an active campaign.

Had the enemy eftablifhed themfelves in force upon the iflands at the mouth of
the Mohawk river, or on other ground equally advantageous, to have difputed the
paflage of that, or of the Hudfon’s River, or Rad they even waited an affault in their
works at Still-Water, it is probable, that recourfe muft have been had to artillery
of the heavier nature ; in the latter cafe efpecially they muft have been ufed in order
to derive any advantage from our {eizing a poft upon their left flank : I have fince
known, that they had iron twelve and nine-pounders mounted upon thole works,
which were in other refpects very formidable.

The Bririfh artillery-men, rank and file, were — -— 245

Recruits, under command of Lieutenant Nutt, of the 33d regiment, at-
tached to the fervice of the artillery - — - 150
Heffian artillery-men, rank and file — - 78
473

Add thefe numbers to the former ftate of the army, and it will be found, that tle
regular ftrength when at the greateft confifted of 7213.

I come now to the fecond period of the campaign, comprchc’nding the tranfaétions
from the time the purfuit of the enemy from Ticonderoga ceafed, and the corps of
Brigadier-general Frafer, and the gth regiment, rejoined the army, after the relpec-
tive actions of Huberton and Fort Anne, to the time when the army pafled the Hud-
fon’s river to attack the enemy near Still-Water.

It had proved impoffible immediately to follow the quick retreat of the enemy
farther, from the nature of the country, and the neceffity of waiting a frefh fupply

' . of

1t
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of provifions. But it appeared evident to me, that could a rapid progrefs towards
Albany be effected, during their difperfion and panic, it would be decifive on the
fuccefs of the expedition.

Queftion has been made by thofe who began at this period to arraign my milictary
conduct, whether it would not have been more expedient for the purpofe of rapidity,
to have fallen back to Ticogderoga, in order to take the convenient route by
Lake George, than to have pc&cvercd in the laborious and difficult courfe by land
to Fort Edward? My motives for preferring the latter were thefe: I confidered
not only the general impreflions which a retrograde motion is apt to make vpon the
minds both of enemies and friends, but alfo, that the natural conduct of the enemy in
that cafe would be to remain at Fort George, as their retreat could not then be cut
off, in order to oblige me to open trerches, and confequently to delay me, and in
the mean time they would have deftroyed the road from Fort George to Fort Ed-
ward, On tht other hand, by perlifting to penetrate by the fhort cut from Fort
Anne, of which I was then malfter, to Fort Edward, though it was attended with
great labour, and many alert fituations, the troops were improved in the ve effen-
tial point of wood fervice; I effettually diflodged the enemy from Fort George
without a blow ; and fecing me mafter of one communication, they did not think
it worth while to deftroy the other.

The great number of boats alfo, which muft neceffarily have been employed: for
the tranfport of the troops. over Lake George, were by this courfe fpared for the
tranfport of the provifion, artillery, and ammunition.

'The fuccefs anfwered this reafoning in every point ;. for by the vigilance of Gene-
neral Phillips, to whom I had committed-the important part of forwarding all the ne-
ceffaries from Ticonderoga, a great embarkation arrived at Fort George on July 2 gth.
I took pofieffion of the country near Fort Edward on the fame day, and independently
of other advantages, I found myfelf much more forward in. poiat of time than I
could poflibly have been by the other route.

Another material motive, which could not be known by ftrangers who have rea-
foned upon this movement, was, that during the time that my army was employed
in clearing Wood-Creek and cutting roads, and the corps under Major-general
Phillips working to pafs the tranfports over Lake George, I was enabled to detach.
alarge corpsto my left, under Major-general Reidefel, and thereby affift my pur-
pofe of giving jealoufy to Conneéticut, and keeping in check the whole country-
called the Hampfhire Grants.

It was at this time Major-general Reidefel conceived the purpofe of mounting his
regiment of dragoons. In the country he traverfed during his detached command,

he foundwhe people frightened and fubmiffive. He was. induftrious and expert in.
' _procuring
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procuring intelligence in parts of the country more remote than Bennington, and
entertained no doubt of fuccefs, were an expedition formed under the command of
Lieutenant-colonel Baum. ’

On the arrival of the army at Fort Edward, the great objelt of attention was the
tranfports from Fort George. The diftance was about fixteen miles, the roads
wanting great repair, the weather unfavourable, the cattle and carriages fcarce ;
part of the latter inconvenience was occafioned by the number of both that were
necefarily detained at Ticonderoga, for the purpofe of dragging the boats and the
provifions over the carrying places, between Lake Champlain and Lake George ;
another part of the inconvenience was caufed by the unavoidable delays, in bringing
the different divifions of horfes as they were collefted in Canada through the defart,
for fuch moft of the country is between St. John’s and Ticonderoga.

It was foon found, that in the fituation of the tranfport fervice at that time, the
army could barely be vitualled from day to day, and that there was no profpect of
eftablifhing a magazine in due time for purfuing prefent advantages. The idea of
the expedition to Bennington originated upon this difficulty, combined wich the in-
telligence reported by General Reidefel, and with all I had otherwife received.

I knew that Bennington was the great depofit of corn, flour, and ftore cattle;
that it was guarded only by militia; and every day’s account tended te confirm the
perfuafion of the loyalty of one defcription of the inhabitants and the panic of
the other. Thofe who knew the country beft were the moft fanguine in this per-

. fuafion.

Had my intelligence been. worfe founded, I thould not have hefitated to try this ex-
pedition with fuch troops, and under fuch inftruétions as I gave to the commanding
officer, for fo great a purpofe as that of a fupply fufficient to enable the army to follow
at the heels of a broken and difconcerted enemy. The German troops employed were
af the beft I had of that nation. The number of Britith was fmall; .but it was the
felec light corps of the army, compofed of chofen men from all the regiments, and
commanded by Captain Frafer, one of the moft diftinguifhed officers in his line of fer-
vice that ever I met with. The inftruétions recommended the utmoft caution refpet-
ing pofts and fecurity of retreat, attention againft expofing the folid part of the detach-
ment to affront, or committing it in any inftance, without a moral certainty of fuccefs.
I touch with tendernefs and with great reluctance points that relate to the dead. My
defence compels me to fay, my cautions were not obferved, nor the reinforcement ad-
vanced with the alacrity I had a right to expeét. The men who commanded in both
inftances wete brave and experienced officers. I have ever imputed their failure partly
to delulion in refpeét to the enemy, and partly to furprife and confequent confulion
in the troops.

For further explanation of my motives, and the circumftances attending the con-
1. duct

3
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SuCAp;rndxx dult of the expedition, Ibeg leave to refer the committee to the letter laid befdre the
No. vii1, -houfelaft year, and more particularly to the private letter laid before the houfe lately.*
The fame letter will fhew the only refource that remained for proceeding towards

Albany, after the difappointment of this expedition, viz. to prefs forward a neceflary
fupply of provifion, and other indifpenfible articles, from Fort George. Ifhall bring .

proof to your bar to this point, and I truft I fhall fhew beyond a doubt, that no pof-

fible exertion was omitted. It is not uncommon for gentlemen, unacquainted with

the peculiaritics of the country to which I.am alluding, to calculate the tranfport of
magazines, by meafuring the diftance-upon a map, and then applying the refources of

carriage, as prattifed.in other countries. I requeft permiflion to (hew their miftake.

The firft ftage from Fort George to Fort Edward is by land. The diftance and the

roads were dci;cribcd before. At Fort Edward the Hudfon’s River becomes navigable

for a certain extent, and it is the conftant practice in all tranfports to refume the water

carriage. Were it not, new impediments would arife from hills, worfe roads, and

fuch an increafed diftance, as would prevent the cattle returning to Fort George the

fame day. About fix miles below Fort Edward lie the falls of Fort Miller, where

there is another carrying-place, which, though of no confiderable length, makes

it neceflary to unload the boats, to place the contents in carts, and to replace them

in frefh boats, at the place the river again admits of navigation. The boats unloaded,

return to Fort Edward againft a rapid ftream.

Upon this fhort ftate of facts, gentlemen will judge of our embarrafiments, In
the firft place, it was neceffary to bring forward to Fort Edward fourfcore or a hun-
dred boats, as mere carriage-veflels for the provifions, each boat made a hard day’s
work for fix or more horfes, including the return of the horfes. At the next carry-
ing-place, as above defcribed, it was neceflary to place a confiderable relay of horfes
to draw over, firft, a portion of carriage boats, and afterwards the provifion, as it
arrived. I have not mentioned the great number of other boats neceflary to be
brought forward, to form bridges, to carry baggage and ammunition, and the num-
ber of carriages framed to tranfport the boats themfelves at the enfuing carrying-
places, aswe fhould proceed to Albany. This will be thewn in detail at the bar, if
the coamittee chufe to hear it; and I pledge myfelf, it will appear, that the dili-
gence 'in this fervice was extreme; that it was performed in the moft expeditious
manner poffible, regard being had to our refources, and that no delay was occafioned
by the artillery, becaufe the horfes appropriated to it were fupernumerary to thofe for
which we had carts, and the artillery, not already with thc army, at laft was all

~ brought up by its own horfes in two days. »

On the 13th of September, the ftore of provifion, amounting to about thirty day s
confiimption, was completed. I have ftated, in my letter to the fecretary of ftate,
my reafons againft proceeding with lefs quantity. And it is now time to enter upon

the
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“the confideration of that objed, which is held by fome to be conclufive upon the
executive part of the campaign, the paffage of the Hudfon’s River.

Two errors, refpecting £his pafiage, though of oppofite and incompatible natures,
“are fuppofed to have contributed to the ill fuccefs that enfued 3 the one, the error of
~ delay, the other, that of precipitation. In defence againit the firfl, I refer to my
effort at Bennington to procure fupplies, and to the impediments, I have juft now
ftated, after that effort failed. Againft the latter, I refer to the reafons laid down in
" my private letter to the fecretary of ftate, dated 20th of Auguft. * The ftate of
things at this important crifis, and my reafoning upon it, are expreffed ftill more
at large in my difpatch from Albany ; 1 will now only touch them fhortly. On the
one hand, my communications were at an end ;. my retreat was infecure ; the enemy
“was collected in force; they were ftrongly pofted; Colonel St. Leger was retiring
from Fort Stanwix. Thefe were difficultirs, but none of them infurmountable.
On the other hand, I had diflodged the enemy repeatedly, whell before in force,
and more ftrongly pofted; my army was confcious of having the fuperiority,
and eager to advance; I expetted co-operation; no letters from Sir William
Howe removed. that expetation; that to Sir Guy Carleton. had never weighed
" upon my mind; becaufe it was dated carly in April, and confequently long before
the fecretary of ftate’s inftructions, which I muft have fuppofed to relate to co-ope~
ration, could be received. The letter of 17th July,* mentioned titat General’s re-
turn to my affiftance, fhould Wathington turn his force towards me; indicated, as
I thought, an expectation of my arrival at Albany ; and'informed me, that Sir Henry
" Clinton was left at New-York, and would aét as occurrences might direct. I did
not know Sir Henry Clinton’s force. 1 4id know, that confiderable reinforcement
might be then expeéted at New-York from England. After all, fhould co-opera-
" tion from below fail, the whole force of Colonel St. Leger, and Sir William John-
fon, was to be expected from above, in time to facilitate a retreat, though not in
time to affilt my advance. Under thefe different fuggeftions, and thofe that are more
copioufly ftated in the difpatch, to which I have referred, 1 read again my orders (I
believe for an hundredth time) and I was decided.

And I am ftill convinced, that no proof that could have been brought from ap-
pearances, intelligence or reafoning, could have juftified me to my country, have
faved me from the condemnation of my profeflion, or produced pardon within my
own breaft, had T not advanced, and tried a battle with the enemy.

1 will conclude this fubject, with again- afferting upon my honour, what I hope
to fupport by evidence, though it is impoffible to bring pofitive proof to a nega-
tive, that neither General Frafer, nor General Phillips, ever offered, as has been re-
ported, nor can be fuppofed to have conceived any objection againft the paffage of

the Hudfon’s River,
This

-
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This refolution being taken, I truft, the manner of approaching the enemy, when
-explained by witnefles; will not be difgraceful to me as a foldier. The attion, which
enfued on the 1gth of September, verified my opinion of the valour of my army ;
and I mult, in truth, acknowledge, a very refpetable fhare of rhat quality in the
army of the enemy. To the general defcription given in my difpatch, it will be
fit to add, by evidence, the peculiar merits of the ‘troops in that attion. The ho-
nour of three Britilh regiments, in continual and clefe fire for four hours, all of them
fuffering confiderable lofs, and one remaining with lefs than fixty men, and four.or
five officers, ought not to lofe its due applaufe, becaufe it is faid, their opponents
were irregulars and militia,

A victory was at laft obtained, but the clofe of day unaveidably prevented any
immediate advantages, On the day following, it'was known from prifoners and de-
ferters, that thg enemy were in a poft ‘ftrongly fortified ; but from the thicknefs of
the wood, it was impofiible to catch a view of any part of their pofition. All that
could be done, therefore, was to take up ground as near them, as the nature of the
country would admit with regard to military arrangement. It appears from the dif-
patch already alluded to, that the army 1 remained in this pofition till the gth of O&o-
ber, when the fecond aion enfued, employcd in fortifying their camp, and watch-
ing the enemy, whofe numbers it was now known, had been greatly fuperior to ours

in the aétion.
It may here be afked, why, as foon as it became palpable that no ufe could be

made of the victory, 1did not retreat ?

It will be fhewn, that on the fecond day after the attion, 1 reccwcd intelligence
from Sir Henry Clinton, of his intention to attack the highlands about that time,
and I-was hourly in expectation, I thought a juftly founded one, of thatmeafure
operating to difledge Mr. Gates-entirely, or to oblige him to detach a large portion
of hisforce.. Either of thefe cafes would probably have opened my way to Albany.
In thefe circumftances, could the preference upon thefe alternatives admit of a mo-
ment’s reflettion ? To wait fo fair a profpect of effecting at laft the great purpofe
of the campaign, or to put a victorious army, under all the difadvantages of a beat-
en one, by a difficult and difgraceful retreat ; relinquithing the long expected co-
operation, in the very hour of its promife, and leaving Sir Henry Clinton’s arpay,
and probably Sir William Howe’s, expofed, with fo much of the feafon of the cam-
paign to run, to the whole force of Mr. Gatcs, after he fhould have feen me on the
other fide of Hudfon’s River.

Some of the fame confiderations, and other concomitant circumﬂances, will, in
part, ferve toaccount for my not attacking the enemy during this interval ; for in this
fituation, as in former ones, my conduét has been arraigned upon oppofite principles.

The



_ The committee will obferve, that after receiving intelligence of Sir Henry Clinton’s -
idign. different mclfengcrs were difpatched by different routes, to inform that officer
of my fituation, and of the time I thought I could continuggnit. To have hazarded
a repulfe under fo reafonable an expectation of a powcrfMerﬁon, would, in my
opinion, have been very unjuftifiable ; but when I add, that from the backwardnefs,
or defeétion, of the few Indians that remained, the numbers of rifle-men, and other

nzulars cmploycd on the enemy’s out-pofts, and the ftrcngth and darknels of the
furrounding woods, it had not yet been pra&xcabic to gam any competent knowledge
of their pofition, I truft every man will go with me in the fentiment, that all thefe
circumftances confidered, an attack would have been confummate rathnefs.

Another very powerful reafon, that operated on the [ide of delay, was the ftate of .
my fick and wounded. Numbers of the latter were recovering faft; many excellent.
officers in particular; and the more I delayed the ftronger I grew. The time alfo en-
titled me to expect Licutenant Colonel St. Leger’s corps would be arnvcd at Txon-
dcroga, and fecret means had been long concerted to enable him to make an cfort to

‘» join me, with probability of fuccefs.

Upon mature confideration of thefe and other circumftances attcndmg this period,,
come to my knowledge fince, I am clearly of opmlon, that had the reinforcements from
England arrived in time, to have enabled Sir Henty Clinton to have effected the ftroke
he afterwards fo gallantly made in'the highlands,. any time between the two actions, 1.
fhould have made my way.

The difpatch alluded. to, proceeds to ftate the reafon that induced me to make the

.movement on the 7th Oc&ober. I fhall only add, to obviate a fuppoled error, in not
advancing my whole line, that the part remaining in my camp, operated as effectually.
to keep the enemy’s right wing in. check, from fupporting their left, as if it had
moved, with this additional advantage, that it prevented the danger of their ad-
vancing by the plain, near the river, and falling upon my rear.

I have reafon to believe my difappointment on- that day proceeded from an uncom-
mon circtimftance in the eonduét of the enemy. Mr. Gates, as 1 have been informed,
had determined to receive the attack in his lines ; Mr, Arnold, who commanded on the

* left, forfeeing the danger of being turned, advanced without confultation wirh his ge--
neral, and gave, inftead of receiving battle. The ftroke might have been‘fatal on his
part had he failed. Bot confident 1 am, upon minute examination of the ground

~ fince, that had the other idea been purfued, I fhould in a few hours have gained a po-
- fition, that in fpite of the enemy’s numbers, wou#d have put them in my power,
anagfeelbku is the neeeflity, I muft here again, in juftice to my own army, recur to~
- the vigour and obftinacy with which they were fought by the enemy. A more deter--
(m mmcd perfcvemnce ﬂmn ;bcy fhewed in the attack upon the Vines, though they . were
B et ; vl finally
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finally repulfed by the corps under Lord Balcarras, 1 believe, is not in any officer’s
experience. It will be the bufinefs of evidence to prove, that in the part, where Co-

lonel Breyman was k!% and the enemy penetrated, the mifchief could not be re- »

paired, nor under it the camp be longer tenable.

The tranfactions of the enfuing night, the day of the eighth, and the whole proorefs
of the retreat to Saratoga, will be laid before the committee minutely in the courfe of
my evidence, as well as every circumftance, from the rime the army arrived there to the
figning the convention. I have only to premife, that, I traft, I thall be able to prove,
to the fatisfaction of the committee, that even in this fituation, I had the chance of a
favourable event. The enemy had intended to attack by the plain of Saratoga. On
the morning of the 11th, a confiderable column had actually paffed the Fifh Kill for
that purpofe during the fog, which at that feafon was regular till fometime after fun
rife. ‘The intention was prevented taking place, by intelligence one of their generals
received from a deferter, that I had a line formed behind the bruth-wood, to {fupport
the poft of artillery, which was their immediate object of attack. The general in-

ftantly retreated his column, and prevented a general action, which my pofition, com-

pared with the propefed one of the enemy, gave me reafon to hope would have been to
my advantage.

I have likewife a fansfa&ory conﬁdcncc, that I fhall demonftrate that the intelligence
T ftated to the councils of war, refpecting the ftrength of the enemy, did not fall fhort
in any part, and in fome parts much exceeded my owa belicf, particularly on the only
poffible routes of my retreat; and that thofe pofts were not taken up during my ftay

at Saratoga, as has been reported, but fome of them previous to the action of the-

«th, and the reft immediately after it.

1 thallclofe the whole of this by delivering at your table, from the hands of my fecre-
tary, an authenticated return of the force of General Gates, figned by himfelf, and the
* truth of it will be fupported from ocular teftimony, by every officer of the Britith
army. Many of them are now in England, and after what has been infinuated, not to fay
charged in this Houfe, it becomes the duty of the accufers, not only to examine clofely
the officers T have called, but to produce any other witnefles, that in their thoughu
may be qualified to fpeak to the good or bad order of the rebel troops, when they
marched by in their prefence, and to their behaviour, when oppofed to our troops in
action.

I' cannot clofe this long trefpafs upon the patxcncc of the committee, without ex-
prefling one humble hope, that in forming a judgment upon the whole, or any diftin&
part of thefe tranfactions, they will be confidered as thcy muft have appeared at the
gime ; for, I believe, where war is conccmcd, few men in command would ftand ac-

quitted,
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quitted, if any after-knowledge of facts and circumftances were brought in argument
- againft decifions of the moment, and apparent exigencies of the occafion.
I fubmit all I have faid, fome of it, I fear, not fufficiently prepared or arranged,
with true refpect to the committee, I fhall not mention ol the difadvantages, under
. which I have prefed this bufinefs upon their attention. I have caufe to regret the ab-
fence of a moft confidential friend in Major General Phillips; zealous advocates, I
truft, in Major General Reidefel and Brigadier Hamilton. Much of my vindication.
is in the grave with General Frafer; much with Colonel Ackland your late member,
I tult my zeal, in promoting this enquiry, as I have done, will be one mark of the
fenfe I bear of the general charater of this houfe ; that however men may be biaffed
by political attachments upon common occafions, when the honour of an individual is
committed to their hands, they will alone be guided by truth and juftice. +And the next.
inference I fhould wifh to be drawn, from my earneftnefs for a public appeal, is this ;.
*that however others may impute errors to my conduct, I am myfelf confeious of the:
rectitude of my intentions.
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Committee to confider of the feveral Papers which were prefented to the
Houfe by Mr. De Grey, upon the 19th Day of March laft, purfuant to
their Addrefs to his Majefty. b Bl

‘Mr. F. Montagu in the Chair.
’ -
Sir Guy .C.uu.zrow was called in and examined by General Burgoyne as follows' :

o o ¥ DO you recolle@t having received aletter from the fecretary of ftate, mention- %,

ing the reafons that made it expedient for you to remain in the province of
Quebec ? o : -

A. Yes, very well.

Q. What was the date of it ?

A. Ithink the 12th of Auguft, 1776—I am fure it was in Auguft. o

Q. Was not the date of that letter long before the return of General Burgoyne from
Canada to Great Britain ? '

A. Yes. . Ly

Q._During the winter, preceding the campaign of 1777, was.not the artillery pre-
pared at Montreal for field fervice, upon the fuppofition that you was to command
the army beyond the frontiers of the province ? ~

A. Itwas. X

Q. Was the proportion dllotted to General Burgoyne for field fervice more than
was intended, had you fo commanded ?

s A. 1don’t precifely recolle¢t that—It does not ftrike me there was any great dif-
erence. ‘

Q. Was the quantity of artillery decided on in concert with Major-General Phillips,
and on his recommendation ? -

A. The artillery I had prepared for the campaign, on a fuppofition I was to go my-
felf, was in.concert witl? l251:[::::-&1 Phillips. ’lgixatgdcgartmcggo as well as othcrgs? wzs
fm unider the command of General Burgoyne on his arrival ; and, I fuppofe, he fol-

owed the fame method fo far as regarded the artillery. \ ‘ .

Q. Did General Burgoyne apply to you for troops from Canada to garrifon Ticon- &
deroga when he advanced ? ] ‘

A. Hedid. _ ‘

Q. What was the purport of your anfwer ? i

A. ThatIdid not think myfelf juftified to grantit by my orders—My anfwer will
appear more precifely by a copy of my anfwer to General Burgoyne. T

& =



Q. Do you recolleét that General Burgoyne informed you of the motiveson which .
. he proceeded from Skc,nciborou%h to Fort Edward by land in preference to the route by
“Ticonderoga and Lake George ? ' %

A. I dO. 2 Vel ot

Q. Did you concur in his fentiments ? 10,

A. I remember my anfwer was an anfwer of approbation. :

Q. Do you know of any circumftance of General Burgoyne’s military conduét, rp,

while under your command, that you difapproved ? ‘ A
A. 1 had no reafon to difapprove of any part of his condu&t while under my cofn-

mand. [#ithdrew.
Again called iny and examined by other Members of the Commitiee.

Q. Whether, when you propofed to take that train of artillery with you that you 12. °
have mentioned, it was with a view to the reduétion of the forts ar Ticonderoga; or
whether you propofed to have taken with you the fame train of artillery in cale you had
marched forward in the country toward Albany ? : "

A. It was with an intention to reduce the forts and lines at Ticonderoga ; the train
of artillery was calculated for that fervice.

. Whether you know what proportion of artillery was carried forward by the ar- 13, By Gen,
my under General Burgoyne’s command after the reduction of  Ticonderoga ? Burgoyne,

A. I don’t recollett. .

. Q. Would you not, in cafe you had reduced Ticonderoga and marched forwards 14.
towards Albany, have carried with you a train of field artillery ? ‘

A. I probably thould have taken artillery with me. A

. Q. Had you forefeen a neceflity of fortifying a camp at Albany, would you not 15.
have carried fome guns of the calibre of twelve (Foundcrs and light twenty-fours ?

A. It is really a very difficult matter off hand to run into all the minute operations
of a campaign ; every meafure of that fort muft have been a marter of confideration
and deliberation, and there are a thoufand circumftances that might have determined

" me upon the fpot—I don’t with to conceal from this Houfe any thing that 1 would
have done—but I hope they will conlider, that every gentleman may have different
ideas of the ftate and fituation of the army, as exprefied by the queftion afked, and the
leaft inaccuracy of expreffion on my part may convey ideas very different from what
I-could with—In general, fo confiderable a corps as that was, very feldom moves
without artiilery, but the precife number muft depend on a variety of circumftances,
which the difcretion and judgment of the officer who commands muft determine.

Q. Were not the orders you reccived from government pofitive, for General Bur- 16,
goyne to march to Albany ? '

A. The orders have been publithed I underftand—Every gentleman in this Houfe
muft be a judge of thofe orders whether they were pofitive or not.

Q. Did you not receive a letter, dated the 5th of April, from Sir William Howe, 17,

. informing you that he could not fend any force to affift the opcrations of General

- Burgoyne’s army ?

AL 1 received a letter from Sir William Howe relative ro his operations, a copy of

. which was fent to General Burgoyne—lI think it was not jult in thofe terms, but a

- gopy of the letter is on the table, .

b ; - Q. Whether
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Q. Whether on that information, you confidered that you had any difcretionary
power to detain General Burgoyne after that information ? s ¥

A. Certainly not. »

Q. Whether in cafe of any difficulty that General Burgoyne might meet with on his
march, there was any latitude given to him (General Burgoyne) to retreat ?

A. 1 faid before, that the orders were before the Houfe, who are competent to
judge on that point,

Q. Did you yourfelf underftand thofe orders to General Burgoyne to be pofitive ?

A. That is giving an opinion upon what perhaps may be a queftion in the
Houfe ; whereas I have already faid, the Houfe are as competent to judge as I
am.

Q. Is the Committee to underftand from that anfwer, that you have any objection
of giving your opinion on that queftion ?

A. T have an objeétion to give an opinion on almoft all points.

Q. Did you givg it in orders to General Burgoyne, in cafe he met with any diffi-
culties during his march in Canada, under your command, not to proceed ?

A. I1thould have taken care that General Burgoyne met with no difficulties in
his march in Canada ; nor do I well fee how he could.

Q. Where do the boundaries of the province of Canada end ?

A. Between the Illinois and Point au Fer.

Q. Is the fortrefs of Ticonderoga in Canada ?

A. No. :

Q. Did your commiffion, as commander in chief of the troops in the northern
divifion, extend beyond the boundaries of Canada to Ticonderoga ?

A. That commiffion as commander in chief, I underftood, did extend fo far;
but by the orders already alluded to, or by thofe which General Burgoyne brought out
in the fpring 1777, I underftood that my command was reftrained to, the limits of the
province, and that General Burgoyne was ‘entirely from under my command, as.
foon as he pafled the limits of the province. :

Q. Did you apply to the fecretary of flate for a reinforcement of 4000 men,
as neceffary for the campaign of 1777? o .

A. 1 recolle¢t when General Burgoyne ’vas coming home in the fall of 1776, as
I was perfectly fatisfied with his conduét in the preceding campaign, I talked over
with him, in confidence, what I thought neceflary for the gwillowing campaigy ;
among other things 1 defired him to make a memorandum to demand 4000 men, as.
a reinforcement for the enfuing campaign, or at leaft for four battalions. I think
1 have feen thofe memorandums were accurately ftated and laid before the
Houfe.

Q. What part of that 4000 men which you thought neceflary for the campaign of
1777, was actually fent out to Canada in that year ? _

A. I do not accurately remember how many—I think a very fmall part—You may
have a very precife account from the returns.

Q. Of that fmall part fent in 1777, did not a certain proportion arrive very late ins
the year? ‘

A. Yes, a part arrived late.. :

4 ¢ : : Q. After
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%Mgm had received your orders from the fecretary of ftate, did you appre-
hend that General Burgoyne, as long as he was within the province of Canada, was
pofirively under your command ? '

* A. Yes, I'did: as long as he was in the province of Canada, 1 looked on him to be
pofitively under my command; but the load of the expedition being on his fhoul-
ders, I thought it proger that he, in 2ll things fhould direét ; and therefore I gave out
immediate orders, that not only the troops he was to command out of the pro-
vinee, but all the departments neceﬁ'ari\; for the affilting his expedition, fhould comply
immediately, and without delay, with every requifition and order he fhould give.
The reafon of my doing fo was, that no time might be loff. I only required that
they fhould report to me what orders they had received from General Burgoyne, I
believe thofe orders are alfo on theé table.

; % Wili yon exé)lain to the Committee 'what you mean by the words, lad of the
expedition lying on General Burgoyne's fboulders 2 T

A. T had no particular meaning ; they are words I thould have ufed on any expedi-
tion of importance. j ¥ :

Q. If General Burgoyne had met with very confiderable difficulties to impede his
progrefs within the province of Canada, would you baye thought yourfelf juftifi-
able in giving any orders to General Burgoyne, different from z%ofe tran{mitted to
" General Burgoyne, through you, from the fecretary of flate?

A, Had there been any difficulties in Canada, I would not have given him up
the command. = ‘ ‘

Q. Having given up the comniand to General Burgoyne, and having ordered all
‘the troops to obey him, only reporting their proceedings to you, would you after
that, have thought yourfelf juftifiable to change the order to General Burgoyne,
upon h?is meeting with great difficulties on the frontiers of the neighbouring pro-
vinces y
*A. I really did not mean to evade the queftion in the leaft. It did not appear to me
poffible that there could be any difficulties. Idon’t mean to fay there could not, from
the nature of the country, be difficulties in the march that might occafion delay, but
by the nature of the queftion I underftood difficulties from the enemy, In that cafe
1 fhould not have thought myfelf juftifiable in giving up the command. -

Q._If you had heard, that on the frontiers, and within the province of Canada,
there was the greateft reafon to think, that the refiftance of General Burgoyne's army
was fo great as to make it, in your opinion, exceedingly difficult for that General to
force his way to Albany, would you think yourfelf juflifiable in giving different or-
ders to General Burgoyne, from thofe given by the fecretary of flate ; or would you
have thought the fecretary of ftate’s orders for General Burgoyne's army fo peremp-
tory that it would not be proper for you to interfere ?

A, If I underftood thﬁueﬁion as it now ftands, it is what I would have done, had
the province been invaded, or clofe on the point of being invaded, and the enemy
enrcrin% the province. : -
Q. The queftion daes not mean an invading army, but a refiftance from the enem
to the progrefs of General Burgoyne’s army, in the cafe flated in the laft quel-

Yion ?
A. In
%
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A, In that cafe, that an enemy fhould be found (within the limits of my com-
mand) I thould have ordered all the trocps deftined for the defence of the province,
to have immediately joined thofe deftined for General Burgoyne, and have reaffum-
ed the command of all, until thole -obftruétions had been removed, within the
limits of my authority, . , :

Q. Suppofe no enemy within the province of Canada, but pofted in fuch a manner
upon the line of communication with Albany, as to make it exceeding difficult for
General Burgoyne to obey the orders given to him, would you think yourfelf jufti-
fiable in giving different orders to General Burgoyne, fiom thofe given by the fe-
cretary of flate ; or would you have thought the fecretary of ftate’s orders for
General Burgoyne’s army fo peremptory that it wouvld .not be proper for you to-
interfere ? : ' |

A. I could not change General Burgoyne’s orders one tittle, that was my opinion ; he
received his orders from the fame power that gave me my authority ; when once he
pafled the limits of my command, I neither could give him orders, nor would he
be juftified in ogeying them.

. Do you mean the latter part of that anfwer as an anfwer to a queftion which:
fuppofes General Burgoyne within the limits of the province of Canada ?

A. No : while he was within the limits of the province of Canada, I would
have given General Burgoyne orders in all cafes of difficulty and danger. There
being no fuch cafe when General Bur_goyne arrived in Canada, in 1777, nor a pof-
fibility of an event of that fort, I put the troops and all things under his com-
mand, which concerned his expedition, that he might arrange and combine their
motions according to his own plan of operation for the campaign, that ne time might
be loft by any unneceffary applications to me, which the ftri¢t forms of my command
might otherwile require. [ ithdrew,

Again called in.

Q. Should you, if you had been in General Burgoyne’s fituation, and a&ting un-

der the orders which you know he received, have thought yourfelf bound to.

purfue them implicitly, or at liberty to deviate from them ?

A. I thould certainly have thought myfelf bound to have obeyed them to the ut-
moft of my power; but, to fay as a military man, that in all cafes poffible, I
mufl have gone on, is a very nice thing to fay indeed ; it muft have thrown me, and
I fuppofe cvery officer, into a moft unpleafant and anxious f{ituation, to have de-
bated within himfelf, whether he was or was not to go on. Every man muft decide
for himfelf. 'What I would have done, I really don’t know ;. the particular fituation,
and 2 man’s own particular feelings, muft determine the point. If I might be indul-

ged, I would beg leave to fay, that I did not meah to evade any quéftion ; I meantto -

anfwer directly ; yet queftions may be put to me, of fo delicate a nature, and perhaps
no man in the world is in a more delicate fituation, with refpet to the prefent cafe in
queftion, and the bufinefs of this Committee, than I am ; when fuch queftions are
put to me, I fhall pray the indulgence of the Committee, to be excufed anfwering
- & them
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them, but I will not evade them. As I now underftand the meaning of the right
honourable member in the former queftions to be, Whether I fhould have taken
upon me to fuperfede the King’s orders, fuppofing I knew of any unfurmountable
difficulties in the way, as that I bad information of 20,000 men at Ticonderoga,
before General Burgoyne left the province of Canada, I fhould have told General
Burgoyne my information? But it was General Burgoyne who was to carry the
orders into execution, and notme, and therefore it was upon his own judgment he
was to determine ; I thould have given him my opinion, but I think I had no right
to give him orders under thofe circumftances.
. Who was it that made the arrangement and diftribution of the troops that 38,

were to be left for the defence of Canada, independent of thofe under the command
of General Burgoyne ?

A. The orders that are before the Houfe are very full, and I thought very clear.
The Committee will fee in thofe orders the troops that were deftined for General
Burgoyne’s expedition, and the troops that were to remain for the defence of the
province. .

Q. Who made that diftribution ? 39.

A. It came to me from the fecretary of ftate,

Q. Did not the orders from the fecretary of ftate go to the detail of the {malleft 40.
pofts within the province ? :

A. The letier is before the Committee, ©

Queftion repeated,

A. I fhould beg for the letter to be read ; 1 don't wifh to avoid any queflion, but 41,
I wifh to be accurate.

. Was the diftribution of the troops preferibed to you by the fecretary of flate, or 42,
left to your difcretion ?

A. In mentioning the number of troops which were toremain in that province, it
was there faid that thofe troops would be fufficient for garrifoning fuch and fuch
places, particularizing them.

Q. Did you ever know an inftance, in your military life, of a minifter making a 43,
diftribution of troops for the defence of a province, without taking the opinion. or
leaving a great deal to the dilcretion of the governor of that province, that governor
- being an a&inF military officer of very high rank ?

A. I never had the honour to correfpond with a fecretary of ftate till I was ap-
poinsed to the command of that province.

Q: Whether you was confulted upon the praéticability .of penetrating from the 44.
frontiers of Canada to Albany by force, with the ftrength allotted to General Bur-
goyne for that purpofe ?

A. No; I wasnot.

Q. Are you acquainted with the paflage from New York to Canada by the Hud- 45,
fon’s River.

A. 1 bave gone that way.

Q. Have you obferved it with a view to military operations ? 46,

A. No; I never made the tour having any military operations in view.

E Q. Are

\
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Q. Are you acquainted with the forces which Sir William Howe had uoder his
immediate command at and about New York, on the 19th of July, 1777?

A. Tam not.

Q. Suppofing Sir William Howe had 12,000 effective men, befides a fufficient:
force lodged in New York, Staten lland, and Long lland, to defead them againtt
General Wathington’s armyv, fuppofing General Wathington's army in the Jerfies, ncar
Quibble Town,and that Sir William Howe had received accounts of General Burgoyne’s
fuccefs at Ticonderoga, and was acquainted with the eorders under which General
Burgoyne aéted; is it your opinion that the beft movement Sir William Howe
¢ould have made for the purpofes of forwarding the execution of the orders, under
which General Burgoyne acted, would have been to have failed with his army from-
New York to Chefapeak Bay? 3

A. Had I had the honour to have commanded on that fide, I do net know what I
fhould have done myfeif,

Q. After you received the letter from Sir William Howe, informing ycu of his
intended expediti®n to the fouthward, whether you did expeét that Sir William
Howe's army could co-operate on the Hudfon’s River with the northern army that
feafon ? .

A. 1 don’t know,

Q. Whether you thought, after the receipt of that letter, that it was probable:
there would be a co-operation from the {¢uthern army ?

A. 1 took it for granted, that Sir William Howe knew what he was about, and
would do what he thought beft for the public fervice. I really was fo little in-
formed of all the particular circumftances of his fituation and of the provinces under
his command, that I could form no judgment of the propriety or impropriety of his
conduét, or of the effeéts of his meafures.

Q. Did your informarion lead you to believe, that the inhabitants between Sara-
toga and Albany, were fo well affected to his Majefty and Great Britain, as that
there would be much advantage-derived from their afliftance to the King’s army in
the profecution of General Burgoyne’s expedition ?

A. T had frequent accounts from that part of the country, that there were numbers.
ready to take arms and join the King’s troops if they fhould penetrate {o far.

%Do you mean, by penetrating jfo. far, to Albany, or to the length the army.
got |
A. The whole extent of the inhabited country, according to the information.
brought to me. . .

Q. Had you no information that a formidable militia might be raifed in that
country to oppofe his Majefty’s arms ?

A. Yes; T had fuch information.

Q. Did you think that the force which General Burgoyne carried with him from.

Ticonderoga towards Albany was fufficient to oppofe fuch force ?

A. Treally muft beg leave to be excufed anfwering that queftion.

Q. If you had been coniulted refpecting General Burgoyne’s expedition, knowing
the nature of that country, and the force General Rurgoyne had, would you or
sot have advifed fuch anenterprize ?

N Al lf
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A, If I bad bad the honour to command in that campaign as I had in the former,
I don’t precifely know what I fhould have done myfelf.

Q. Did you give any advice for employing the favages ? 56,

A. 1 don’t recolleét that I faid any thing about them. [Withdrew,

Fovis 27° die Maii, 1779.

EarL of BaLcarrAs called in and examined by General Bargoync.

Q. IN what ftation did your Lordfhip ferve in the campaigns in America, in 1776, 1.
and 1777 °? : .

A. 1 commanded the Britith light infantry.

Q. Was the Britifh light infantry continullly attached to the corps under the 2.
command of Brigadier General Frafer ?

A. Yes

Q. Had you occafion to obferve that General Burgoyne and General Frafer lived 3.
together in friendfhip and confidence ?

A. Yes, 1 had.

Q_ Had you reafon to believe that General Frafer was confulted by Genaral Bur- 4.
goyne in all material operations ?

A. T had reafon to Eelicvc that General Frafer was confulted in many material
operations, : '

Q. Does your Lordfhip know or believe that the proportion of artillery, at- g,
tached to General Frafer’s corps through the whole campaign, was according to his
requifitions and defires ?

A. I underftood from General Frafer, that the proportion of artillery allotted to
him was agreeable to his own requifitions.

. Do you recollec the nurmber of killed and wounded in General Frafer's corps, 6-

at the affair of Huberton ?

A. 1 don’t recollect exa&ly ; T think it was about 1 50.

Q. What was your opinion of the behaviour of the enemy on that day? 7

A. Circumftanced as the enemy was, as an army very hard prefled in their retreat,
they certainly behaved with great gallantry.

Q. Was it practicabie, the nature of the country, the fatigue of the King’s troops, £.
the care of the wounded, and other circumftances confidered, to have purfued the =
enemy farther after that action ?

A. It was not

EZ\ Q. Do
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Q. Do you recolle® .on what day General Frafer’s corps rejoined the army at
Skenefborough ? ,

A. Oathe gth of July; Ithink that it was on that day.

Q. On what day was the action at Huberton ?

A. On the 7th of July.

Q. Do you recollect the difficulties of removing the wonnded from Huberton to
the bofpital at Ticonderoga ?

A. From the diftance and badnefs of the roads, the difficultics attending the re-
moving of the hofpital muft have been very great.

Q. Was it praéticable, unlefs the wounded had been left expofed to the enemy,
to have rejoined the army fooner ?

A. It was not.

Q. Does your Lordfhip recolle@ how the army was employed between that time
and the march to Fort Edward?

A. The Britith were employed in opening the country and making roads to Fort
Anne; the Getmans under General Reidefel were detached about fourteen miles to
the left. '

Q. Do you recolleét the poft the enemy abandoned upon the afcent from the
Low Country to the Pitch Pine Plains, in the march from Fort Anne to Fort Ed-
ward ? : " :

A. I do recolle& fuch a place. . '

Q. Had the enemy maintained their ground on that poft, do you apprehend
that a confiderable portion of artillery would have been neceflary to diflodge
them ? ’

A. Artillery would certainly have been of great ufe to diflodge the enemy.

Q. Did you ever fee an inftance, during your fervice in America, that the rebels
continued twenty-four hours on the fame place without entrenching ; and was it not
alfo their general praice to add abbaties to their entrenchments ?

A. The rebels were always indefatigable in fecuriug themfelves by entrench-
ments, and in general they added an abbatis to thofe entrenchments.

Q. Do you remember the pofition. the enemy abandoned at Schuyler’s Ifland ?

-A. I do remember to have paffed fuch an poft once.

Q. Does you Lordfhip think that pofition could have been forced without a
numerous artillery or heavy lofs ?

A. Tdo not think it could.

Q. From the nature of that country, do you think that poft could have been
turned ? -

A. Not without greatly rifquing the boats and portable magazines.

Q. Is it poffible at any time in that country, and with a fmall army, to quit
the navigable rivers, without leaving the boats and portable magazines expofed ?

A. I imagine it is not.

Q. Did you live in habits of intimacy and communication with General Frafer ?

A, 1 did.

Q. Was General Frafer of a warmth and opennefs of temper that generally
made him communicative of his fentiments, when they differed from the fentiments
of thofe with whom he ated?

A. General



Farl of Balcarras.) EVIDENCE

A. General Frafer’s temper was warm, open, and communicative, but referved in
matters of confidence.
. Did you ever hear General Frafer exprefs difapprobation of the meafure of paf-

fing Hudfon’s River ?
A. I never did.
Q. Was not a bridge conftruéted of rafts, and fome boats thrown over that

river, a little before the time of the attack on Bennington ?

A. There was.

Q. Did not General Frafer’s corps pafs the river by that bridge, and take poft on
the heights of Saratoga ?

A. It did.
Q. Do you remember that bridge being carried away by the torrents and bad

weather, whereby the communication was cut off between that corps and the main
body of the army ?
A. I do.

Q. Was General Frafer’s corps recalled after that alion, and obliged to repafs
the river in boats and fcowls ? .
A, Tt was.

Q. Do you remember General Frafer expreffing his forrow for being obliged to re-
turn back over the Hudfon’s River ?

A. I remember General Frafer mentioning it with regret, '

Q. Had the rear guard of General Frafa's &orps been attacked during that paf-
fage over the river, would not a powerful fire of artillery from the oppofite fhore
have been of great ufe, if not the only means of protecting them ?

A. If the enemy had attacked General Frafer, they would have found him in a
very bad pofture ; it was impoffible to take a better, and, as they could not be fup-
ported by the line, the only means of fafety muft have been to get under cover of
the fire of our artillery.

. Was there not an expetation and impatience of the troops in gencral to pafs
Hudfon’s River, and advance on the enemy ?

A, There was.

Q. Was there not a general confidence and alacrity on the occafion ?

A. There was. '

Q. From thefe circumftances, and your other knowledge of the army, do you not
believe that to have made no further attempt on the enemy wouid bave caufed dif-
appointment and dejection in the troops, and refle¢tions ou the general ?

A. The troops were in the higheft {pirits, and withed to be led on.

Q. Does your Lord(hip recollect the march up to the enemy on the morning of
the 19th of September ?

A. I do. )

Q. Was the combination of the march fuch, as, that notwithftanding the paf-
fage of the ravines and the thicknefs of thewoods, the column of General Frafer’s
march, and that of the Britith line, led by General Burgoyne, were in a fituation to
fupport each other, and fpeedily to form in line of battle, ar the time the enemy be-
gan the attack ?

: A. After
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"A. After the columns had paffed the ravines, they arrived at their refpective
pofts with great precifion in point of time, and every fortunate circumftance attend-
ed the forming of the line.

Q_ How long did that a¢tion laft ? _

A. The Britith were atracked partially about ene o’clock. The ation was gene-
ral at three, and ended at feven o'clock. )

Q. From the nature of the country, was it poffible to difcern the enemy’s pofi-
tion or movements, o form any judgment what attacks were in force, and what were
feints ?

A. I think not.

Q. Did we remain mafters of the field of battle ?

A. We did.

Q. Had the field of battle been well difputed by the enemy ?

A. The enemy behaved with great obftinacy and courage.

Q. ;)Vas it too dark to purfue with effect at the time the action ended ?

A. It was.

Q. Did the King’s troops take up ground nearer to the enemy, the morning after
the action ? )

A. Tt was rather nearer to the enemy.

Q. How near were the out-pofts of General Frafer’s corps to the out-pofts of the
enemy from that time to the action of the yth of O&ober?

A. I thould imagine within half a meile.

. From the nature of the country, and the fituation of the enemy’s out-pofts,
was 1t poffible to reconnoitre their pofition ?

A. From the nature of the country, the difficulties attending reconnoitering muft
have been very great.

Q. Were not the riflemen, and other irregulars, employed by the enemy at out-pofts
and on fcouts, an overmatch for the Indian or provincial troops that were with the
army at that time ?

A. They were.

Q. Was not General Frafer’s corps continually at work during the interval above-
mentioned, in fecuring their own pofts, and opening the front to oppofe the
enemy ?

A. They were.

Q. After General Frafer received his wound, on the 7th of Ocober, on whom
did the command of his corps devolve ?

A. On me.

Q. Was you in a fituation on that day, to obferve the general difpofition of the
army, made by General Burgoyne, previous to the ation ?

A. I remember two redoubts having been ereéted on the left, to cover the
gpats and provifions to enable General Burgoyne to make a detachment from

is army. .
Q. Was you in a fitnation to -obferve the difpofition made immediately béfore

-the attack by the enemy ?

A. T only recolle¢t the fituation of the two battalions of the advanced

Q. After

€0TpS,
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Q. After the retreat to the lines, were the lines attacked, and with what de-
gree of vigour? ; .

A. The lines were attacked, and with as much fury as the fire of fmall arms can
admit,
Q. Does your Lordfhip remember that part of the lines where you commanded,
being vifited by General Burgoyne during the attack ? .

A. I don’t recollect to have feen General Burgoyne.

Q. Was the cannon of great ufe in the repulfe of the enemy in your poft ?

A. Of very great ufe. . ’

Q. Do you thinik that poft would have been tenable next morning, the enemy
having poﬂzcﬁion of Colonel Briemen’s polt ?

A. I do not think it would.

. Would the poffeffion of the poft by the enemy, together with the poffef-
fion of Colonel Briemen's pofts, have laid open the flank and rear of the camp of
the line ? .

A. It would.

Q. Was the retreat in the night, and the new difpofition of the whole army made
in good order aud without lofs ?

A. It was, -

Q_Did the army remain under arms, and ing momentary expectation of battle,
the whole of the day of the 8th ?

A. Ir.did.

Q. Do you remember the corfufion and difficulties attending the line of baggage
in the retreat, in the night of the 8th ?

A. I do. .
.. Q. Was not the retreat neverthelefs made in good order by the troops, and
withour lofs ?

A. It was,
Q. Does your Lordfhip remember the weather, the ftate of the roads, the ftate

of the cattle, and the difficulty of pafling the Fifh Kiln, in the retreat to Saratoga,
in the day and night of the gth ?

A. It rained inceflantly, confequently the rvads were bad ; the cattle were nearly
ftarved for want of forage, and the bridge over the Fifh Kill had been deftroyed by
the enemy ; the troops were obliged to ford the river.

Q. Had there been no enemy to oppofe us, or no bridges or roads to repair, would
it have been poffible, from the ftate of the fatigue of the troops,. to have continued
the march farther immediately after the arrival at Saratoga ?

A. The troops were greatly fatigued, and the artillery had been left on the other fide
of the Fifh Kill

Q. Why were they left on the other fide of the Fifh Kill ?

A. The bridge had been deftroyed by the enemy ; it was exceeding dark, and I do
- not ccl,mow whether the ford was paflable for the artillery without being firlt exa-
mined.

Q. Do you remember the enemy opening a battery on the oppofite fide of Hudfon's
River, and the circumftances attending the opening that battery 2 s

~ A. The
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A. The corps I commanded was at that time pofted, and they fired on us at that
time, but I do not know from what direétion.

Q). Does your Lordfhip remember the fhot from that battery going over the table
when you and feveral officers were at dinner ?

A. T did not dine with General Burgoyne that day—1I recollect hearing a cannon
fhot had difcompofed the company at the general’s cable.

Q. Confequently muft not that battery have commanded the ford over the Hudfon’s
River?

A. T believe I faid, 1did not recolleét from what direction the fhot came, but they
had a battery which commanded that ford.

). Do you recolleét on what day you was called, with other commanders of corps,
to the firlt council of war ?

A. On the 13th of O¢tober.

Q. Was there a fpot in the whole pofition to be found for holding that council,
which was nof expofed to cannon or rifle-thot ?

A. We were not fo fortunate as to find one.

Q. Do you recollect that General Burgoyne, after ftating to the council the difficul-
ties of the fituation, declare, that nothing fhould induce him to propofe terms to the
enemy without the general concurrence of the generals and field officers of the army,
and that he was ready to take the lead in any meafure that they fhould think for the
honour of the Britifh arms, or words to that effect ?

A. I remember words to that effect.

Q. Was the concurrence unanimous for treating on honourable terms ?

A. Thope I fhall ftand juftified with the members of that council, when I have the
honour to declare to this Houfe, that our fituation appeared to them fo decided as not
to admit of one diffenting voice.

Q. When Colonel Kingfton brought back the firlt propofition, wherein it ‘was {pe-
cified by Major General Gates, that the army fhould lay down their arms i their
entrenchments and furrender prifoners of war, does your Lordthip remember, that
General Burgoyne, when he read them to the council, declared, he would not fet his
hand to thofe conditions, or words to that effect ?

A. T think the words of the propofal from General Gates were, That the Britith
army fhould be ordered, by word of command from their adjutant general, to lay
down their arms in the entrenchments. It was rejected with difdain by General Bur-
gone, and the council concurred in his indignation.

Q{\:Vcre the counter propofals, penned by General Burgoyne, unanimoufly ap-
proved ? _

A. They were.

Q., When thofe propofals had been agreed to by General Gates, but copies not
figned by either party, do you remember General Burgoyne informing the council of
intelligence he had received from a fpy in the night, and fubmitting to their confidera-
tion, whether it was confiftent with public faith, and-if fo, expedient to fufpend the
execution of the treaty and truft to events ?

A. T do remember it. :

Q. Does your Lordfhip recolle¢t what was the refule of that confideration ? ;

3 & A, The
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A. The determination of the council, on the queftion being put, was, that the pu-
blic faith was bona fide plighted. :

Q. Though that was the opinion of the majority, was there not a difference of opi-

_nion 1n the council . -

A. There was.

Q. Were the opinions of the feveral commanding officers afked refpecting the con-
dition of their refpective corps, and what might be expeéted from them i%vcrally n
defperate cafes ? ' ~

A, It was.

Q. Was there not on that queftion alfo difference of opinion ?

A. There was.

Q. After the Convention took place, did your Lordfhip fce the army of General
Gates pafs in review before General Burgoyne and General Phillips ?

A. Idid. . :

Q. From the manner and filence of their march, the order obferved in keeping
their divifions, and an apparent attention to their officers, did thgg army appear
difciplined ?

A, They marched in good order and were filent, and feemed to pay attention to
their officers. Thefe are effential points of difcipline, but I faw nothing farther
of it. .

Q. From the general behaviour of the rebe}, troops in the different actions in which
you was prefent in the courle of the campaign, did you think them difciplined and
refpeétable troops ? )

A. When I anfwered the laft queftion, I fpoke to the manceuvre I faw upon the {pot.

‘é& all times when I was oppofed to the rebels, they fought with great courage and
obftinacy.

dging by your eye, and the time the rebel army was marching in review,
did you form any judgment of their number ?

A. Tt requires great experience to make a computation of numbers by feeing them
pafs : asfar as I could judge on the occalion, they feemed to me to amount to thir-
teen or fourteen thoufand rank and file under arms.

Q. Has your Lordfhip reafon to know or believe, that the troops that paffed in re-
view were exclufive of thofe corps that had been pofted on the other fide of the Hud-
fon’s River?

A. They were exclufive of thofe corps.

- .
Examined by other Members of the Committee and WGeneral Burgoyne occafionally.

Q. What was the general opinion of the army of General Burgoyne’s behaviour
in action and in difficulty ? iy '

A. It appeared to me, that General Burgoyne always poffefled himfelf in every
fituation of danger and difficulty, and, I may venture to fay, it appeared fo to the
army.

Q. Had General Burgoyne the confidence of the army ? #
A. He had. :
Q. After the arrival of the troops at Cambridge, were the officers and foldiers of
F.3s the
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-the army fatisfied with the general’s efforts to contribute to their comfort, and redrefs

their grievances ? _

A. They were, «

Q. Was the army fatisfied with the general’s behaviour at the court.martial held on
Colonel Henley ?

A. He carried on that profecution in perfon, and as fuch they were fatisfied with
him. .

Q. Did your, Lordfhip ever hear any officer or foldier of that army exprefs any diffa-
tisfaction at the general’s returning to England ¢ )

A. 1did not.

Q. Does your Lordfhip think that the officers of that army wifh to have their re-
{pective merits ftated to their Sovercign, by the general in perfon who had the honour
of commanding them ? .

A. It was the wifh of that army that General Burgoyne fhould go to Europe, to
juftify not only his own conduét, but the conduct of the army he commanded,

Q. Does ygur Lordfhip apprehend, that the return of General Burgoyne to that
army, under perfonal difgrace, and without any diftribution of preferment among the
diftinguifhed officers of that army, would be any fort of confolation to the troops
under captivity ?

A. General Burgoyne, at all times, fhared the dangers and afflictions of that army
in common with every foldier; as fuch they looked on him as their friend, and cer-
tainly would have reccived him in perfon, or any accounts of him, with every mark
of affection. ‘

Q. Your Lordfhip having faid that if the rebels had maintained their poft, at r#
afcent from the Low Countries to the Pitch Pine Plains, in the march from Fort Anne
to Fort Edward, artillery would have been of great ufe to diflodge them ;. will your
Lordfhip fay what kind of artillery, of what calibre, would have been nc*y for
that purpofe ? b

A. Any of the artillery officers now under the order of the Houfe can give a much
more fatisfactory anfwer to that queftion than I poffibly can.

Q. Did you fee that poft ?

A. Ithink I faid I did fee ir.

Q. With what kind of work was that poft fortified ?

A. T fpoke of it merely from its fituation, .

Q. Were there then any works or none ?

A. 1 don’t recollet there were any works. - .

Q_If the army, after takifig Ticonderoga, had been embarked, and proceeded
dircctly to South Bay, would there have been any occafion to have attacked the poft at
Pitch Pine Plains at all ?

A. The army did proceed by South Bay, excepting a detachment of General Frafer’s
corps, and fome Germans to fupport him; and the army affembled at Skenefborough
on the gth or 10th of July.

. (L? as it ncceﬂ'ar&to go to the poft at Pitch Pine Plains, in order to go to South
"y

A. They had no fort of connetion with each other.

Q_ Might not the army-have proceeded to Fort Edward, and omitted the attack of
that pafs, fuppofing it had been meanic to be defended?

A. There
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A. There were two routes to Fort Edward. General Burgoyne might ftill'go the
fame route without any neceflity of attacking that poft, as there might have been
many different ways of diflodging the enemy from that poft without attacking it.

Q. In how many inftances do you remember the rebels defending their entrench- o3,
ments after they had made them?

A. We never got a view of any of their entrenchments but fuch as they had
voluntarily abandoned. '

Q. Is it then to be underftood that they never.defended any entrenchments ? 04

A. They never did. '

Q.{Did you ever hear General Frafer exprefs his approbation of the paffing of the 95.
Hudion’s River ¢

A. I neverdid. '

Q. Did you ever hear General Frafer expre(s his approbation of the Bennington ¢6.
expedition ?

A. That detachment was made, and the bufinels concluded, before I ever heard of
the project or execution. ;

Q. E—Iavc you occaflion to know, when the firft detachment was fent our under Co- g7,

£.. lonelBaume, where they were ordered to rejoin General Burgoyne, after they had per-
formed the fervice they were fenton ?

A. Idon’t know, .

Q. Whether, in your Lordfhip’s opinion, after the lofs the rebels had fuftained over 43,

_ night, in theaction of the 19th of September, if they had been attacked brifkly at
break ccl)f day, the next day, there was a probability that they could Lave ftood their

ound ? v

A. T have not hefitated to give an opinion upor fuppofed matters, which muft have
been attended with evident and demonftrable confequences ; but I beg the indulgence

«-of the Houfe in declining to give any opinion upon any queftion relative to fpccuﬁtion
or judgment. Had any general officer of that army under General Burgoyne been
prefent in thiscountry, I fhould have confined myfelf merely to the manceuvres of the
corps I commanded. As there is no general officer here, I with to give this Houfe
every information confiftent with my rank in the army. _

Q. Had you any information that might indicate to you that the rebels were pre- gq,
pared to decamp after the attion of the 1gth of September ?

A. I wasignorant of any fuch intelligence being reccived. .

Q. Had you any information of their baggage being packed up ? 100,

A. I have already anfwered, that [ had no information at all about it.

Q. In the ation of the 7th of Oétober, on which fide did the rebels force our lines 101+
and make a lodgement ?

A, The lines to the right were ftormed and carried.

Q. Were the lines attacked to the left ? 102,

A. To the left of that poft they were, but not to the left of the army.

Q._Did not the pofieffion of Fort Edward, and the country thereabouts, cut off 103.
the recreat of any garrifon that might have been in Fort George ?

A. Itundoubtedly did.

Q. Had the army proceeded to Fort George by Ticonderoga and Lake George, 104.

might oot the enemy have remained at Fort Ggorge till the trenches were opened,
and have ftill had their retreat fecure ? i

F2 A. That
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A. That is a matter of opinion upon fpeculation.

Q. Do you not think that the Britifh army, being well provided with artillery, was
a probable reafon for their not defending entrenchments ? '

A. The reafon they did not defend their entrenchments was, that they always
marched out of them and attacked us.

Q. Does your Lordfhip think it would have been advifeable, in point of prudence,
or juft to brave troops, who had fuffered fevere lofs, to attack an enemy the morning
after that lofs, pofted within entren¢hments, which it was impoflible to recon-
noitre ?

A. That attempt was tried on the 7th of O&tober, and did not fucceed.

Q. Were not the enemy reinforced between the 1gth.of September and the 7th of
October ? ;

A. I think it is likely they were,

Q. Were they likely tobe in better fpirits to repel an attack the day after they had
been repulfedewith great lofs, or when they had been reinforced, and feen an army lie

. three weeks inactive in their camp ?

109.
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l}.fl do not judge of the fpirit of the-enemy but when1 was oppofed to them
myfelf.

Q. On the firft day of the altion, when the enemy was repulfed on the 19th of
September, had not our army futfered very confiderably ? '

A. They fuffered very confiderable lofs.

Q. Was not-the army recruited, and in better order, on the 7th of O¢tober, than
they were on the 20th of September ?

A. Numbers of the men who had been wounded and difabled in the action of the
.1gth, joined their corps on the 7th of October. ‘

Q. Was the behaviour of the enemy, oppofed to your Lordfhip, in the attions you
have feen, fuch as to make them contemptible in the eye of a foldier? '

- A. T have already mentioned, that they fought at all times with courage and ob-
ftinacy. : '

Q. Whether the behaviour of the enemy was fuch as to make advantages obtained
*by them over his Majefty’s troops more humiliating and difgraceful to the Britith arms
than the fame advantages obtained by an equal number of any other troops ?

. A. 1 myfelf felt more hymiliation until 1 confidered that thofe advantages proceeded
from the nature of the country, and not from the want of zeal or bravery in the Bri-
tith troops. :

Q. V\?hcthcr the enemy’s troops were fuch bad troops as to make it more difgraceful
to have an advantage obtained by them over the King’s troops than by the like number
of any other enemy over a like number of his Majefty’s troops in the fame cifcum=
ftances of country ? : "

A. The advantages gained by the rebels over the Britith troops proceeded from
their local fituation, and not from the want of courage in the Britith troops. We
wc;c taught by experience that neither their attacks nor refiftance was to be de-
{pifed.

s Q. Did you ever ferve againft any other troops ?

A. 1 commenced my fervice in America.

: Q. Whether
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Q. Whether the army under General Burgoyne, in gencral, expected co-operation
in their efforts to go to Albany, from the army under the command of Sir William
Howe ?

A. General Burgoyne gave it out in general orders, that he had every reafon to
believe that powerful armies were aéting in co-operatien with the army he had the
honour to command. '

Q. Do you know at what time that order was given out ? '

A. The adjutant general’s books will fhew 1t: I think it was about the 3d of
October.

Q. Does your Lordfhip believe that if the army under Ggperal Flowe had co-
operated up the North River with the army under General Burgoyne, that the
army under General Burgoyne would have been obliged to have made the convention
itdid? :

A. That is a matter of judgment. ‘The army looked forward to that ee-operation,
which they were led to underftand, by the orders General Burgoyne had given out,
with pleafure, .

Q. What was the general opinion of the officers of the army in which you ferved,
on that fubject of co-operation ?

A. 1 do not think my rank in the army entitles me to give my opinion on that fub. .

ject ; T fhall ftill lefs prefume to give that of others.
. ‘ . : (Witkdrew.

Then he was called in again, and feveral parts of the examination, particularly that
which immediately follows the place where it is faid that his 1.ordfhi¥'was examined
by other members of the Committee, were read, and then the laft queftion which was
put to his Lordfhip immediately before he withdrew, was repeated, with this addition,
“ To the beft of your recollettion and information.”

A. 1 have already declined anfwering that queftion,

Q. When did you firtt know that there was to be no co-operation from General
Howe's army, and that Sir William Howe had carried his army to Chefapeak
Bay ?

A. 1 did not know that we were to expe€t no co-operation, until after the con-
vention was figned.

Q. When did you firft hear that Sir William Howe was gone to the fouth-
ward ? .

A. It was reported fo in the army about the beginning of the campaign, before
_we crofled the river.

Q. When was that report firft confirmed fo as to make it a matter of belief ¢

A. I never knew it was confirmed at all.

Q. Whether you yourfelf was not furprifed or difappointed, or both, when you
firlt underftood that there was not to be any co-operation from Sir William Howe,
but that Sir William Howe’s army was gone to Chefapeak Bay ?

[(Withdrew.
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Again called in.

Q. Whether you yourfelf was furprifed or difappointed, or both, when you
firt heard that Sir William Howe’s army was gone to Chefapeak Bay?

A. I neither knew the object of the campaign nor its expeltations, and there-
fore cannot fpeak to any manccuvre of which I could not know the tendency.

. Did the army in general exprefs themfelves pleafed at the news of Sir Wil-
liam Howe’s being gone to Chefapeak Bay ? ‘

A. The anfwer go the laft queftion, as it relates to me in particular, relates to
them in general,

Q. Whether your Lordfhip, as a matter of fa&, in the confideration you had in
the army, on the news of Sir William Howe’s being gone to Chefapeak Bay,
heard thofé you converfed with exprefs themfelves pleafed, or ralk of that expedi-
tion to Chefapeak, as a powerful co-operation with General Burgoyne ?

A. 1 think that queftion is fully anfwered in the two preceding ones.

Q. Whether you did not think General Howe’s fighting General Wafhington’s
grand army, at the battle of Brandywine, was a very capital co-operation with the
army under General Burgoyne?

A. I was not at Brandywine. .

Q. Wherher you was not furprifed when you returned home to this country, to
learn that the fecretary of ftate for the American department, had information
from General Howe, of his intentions of going to the fouthward, before General
Burgoyne departed from this country, and never communitated that information
to General Burgoyne before his departure for Canada?

A. 1 have the honour to ftand before this Houfe as a military man, and
not as a politician, and cannot anfwer any queftion but thofe relative to my own
profeffion.

Q. What was your Lordfhip’s opinion of the fpirit of your own cortps ?

A. The opinion I gave in the council of war, relative to the fpirit of the corps I
commanded was, that they were willing and zealous to undertake any enterprife
that General Burgoyne would pleafe to employ them upon. .

. When advice was received that Sir Henry Clinton was coming up the North
River, did you apprehend the treaty of convention had gone fo far that it could
not be broken ?

A. My opinion was, with refpe¢t to that queftion, that all military negotiations
were fair and juftifiable, to make delays and to gain time; I therefore thought and
declared my fentiments, that General Burgoyne was at full liberty to break off
that treaty in the ftage it then was; and I could not conceive that the public

- faith was engaged, until the treaty was actually figned and exchanged.

Q. Whether the opinion of General Burgoyne, of General Phillips, of Brigadier
Hamilton, and feveral other officers, did not ceincide with your opinion in all the
matters comprifed in the laft queftion ?

A. As General Burgoyne feems defirous that I fhould anfwer that queftion, I de-
clare his fentiments were the fame with thofe I have now delivered. I kppe th;tc

t
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the other members of that council, will foon be in a fituation to ftand forward and to
declare the opinion they gave on that and every other queftion. ,

Q. When the queftion relative to the point of public faith was decided, by the 132,
majority of the council, was not the concurrence for figning the convention una- By General
nimous ? ' Burgoyne.
- A. It was.

Q. What day was it firft known that Sir Henry Clinton had taken the highlands, 133
and was coming up the North River ?

A. In the night of the 16th of October. [(Withdrew.

Carrarxy Money called in and examined by General Burgoyne.

Q. WAS not you deputy quarter mafter general of the army under General Bur- §,
goyne, in i777°?

A. T was,

Q. After Lieutenant Colonel Carleton seturned to Canada, was you the fuperior 2,
officer in that department ?

A. T was.

Q. As fuch, did you make it your bufinefs from the beginning of the campaign 3,
to get a knowledge of the country ?

A. Whenever there was any occafion to obtain the knowledge of any particular
part of the country, a party was always fent with me for that purpofe, but the
woods were fo thick that it was impoflible to go without a party.

Q. Was you well acquainted with the country between Skenefborough and Fort 4
Edward ?

A. 1 was,

. How long was the army employed in making the roads praticable between .
Skenefborough and Fort Edward ? .
A. About fix or feven days ip making the road between Skenefborough and Fort
Anne, and between Fort Anne and Fort Edward. I do not belicve the army was
delayed an hour on that account ; there was a very good road made by the rebels
the year before, berween Fort Anne and Fort Edward, in which road the rebels
had cut down fome few trees which took the provincials in our army fome few

hours to clear. ’

Q. Does not the pofleflion of the country in the neighbourhood of Fort Ed- 6.
ward, neceffarily prevent the retreat of a garrifon that might be in Fort
Gmsg? . .

. A It
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A. Tt prevents the getting off any artillery or ftores ; but a garrifon might
_get through the woods, in cafe we were in the pofieffion of the ground in the
neighbourhood of Fort Edwatds

. (% Did not the garrifon of Fort George evacuate the fort upon the approach of
the

ing’s troops toward Fort Edward ¢
A. 1 heard they did; I was not near enough to fee,

Q. Had the army taken their route by South Bay, Ticonderoga, and Lake

George, how many bateaux do you imagme it would have taken to carry the
troops folely over Lake George, exclufive of provifions and ftores ?

A. 1 think between three and four hundred, which bateaux muft have been car-
ried up out of -Lake Champlain to Lake George.

Q. What time would it have taken, as you imagine, to have drawn thofe ba-
teaux over the land, between Lake Champlain and Lake George, with the horfes then
at Ticonderoga ? e -

A. I fuppofeta fortnight—Four hundred bateaux.

Q. Though there were no troops paffed over Lake George, how long did it take
before the firft tranfport of provifions arrived at Fort George ?

A. I can’t recollect precifely.

Q. Confidering the length of time it took to tranfport the ptrovifions, without
the troops, over Lake George, was not the army forwarder in their way to Alba-
ny, in point of time, by the route they took, than they could have been by the
route of Ticonderoga and Lake George ?

A. 1 have already faid, that it would take a fortnight to tranfport the 400 ba-
teaux from Lake Champlain to Lake George ; it therefore would have delayed the
army a fortnight longer than they were detayed to have returned from Skenefborough
by Ticonderoga, and gone acrofs Lake George. :

Q. Was you commiflary of horfe, as well as deputy quarter mafter general ?

A. It was, : y

Q. What is the nature of that department ?

A. It was to take charge of all the horfes furnithed by contra@ for General
Burgoyne'’s army, by any letter of inftru&ions from General Burgoyne. I am di-
reted to give proper orders and direftions to the drivers, furnithed by that con-
tra&t, for the purpofe of tranfporting provifions and ftores brought to Fort George,
for the ufe of the army. _

Q. Did you report from time to time to Major General Phillips, -and take orders
from him, as well as from General Burgoyne ?

A. Yes. :

. Were not the orders from both the generals invariable, precife, and preffing,
for ufing all pofiible diligence in forwarding the tranfport of provifions ?

A. They were. There was one order which I will read, as it 'will fully anfwer
that queftion : it is dated Auguft the 18th, Duer-Camp, and is in thefe words;
¢ Jt having been a pradtice for officers to order to be taken from the provifion train,
¢ in the fervice of the'KinF for this army, the carts and horfes, for the carrying
 baggage and other purpofes, to avoid for the future the danger and inconve-
¢ niencies to the fervice, it is in the moft pofitive manner ordered, that fo cart or
¢ horfe are to be ufed but for the public tranfport of the army ; nor is -any officer,

' ¢ accidentally

> 5
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¢ accidentally coming to any particular poft, to interfere with the provifion train,
“ in any other manner than to give it every aid and affitance, which he is on all
“ occafions to do.”

. Was not the tranfport of merchandize, and even futler’s ftores, as well
as of officers’ baggage, pofitively forbid till the tranfport of provifion thould be
over ? "

A. There was fuch an order, and a feizure made of two barrels of Madeira,
and two barrels of rum, which were ordered to the hofpital. :

Q. Do you recollet General Burgoyne’s expreffing, at feveral times, particular
anxiety on the fubje@ of expediting the tranfport of provifions ?

A. I do remember once to have heard General Burgoyne exprefs his concern at
our not being able to bring forward a greater quantity of provifion to enable him
to proceed with the army.—1 do recolleét to have heard him fay with very great
earneltne(s to General Phillips and Colonel Carleton, that one month’s provifion
at that particular time (it was about the latter end of Augult) would be worth
100,000l. to Great Britain, .

Q. Do you think that the commiffary of the waggons, and other carriages,
was authorifed to buy or hire ox-teams wherever they could be had, and that all
draught cattle taken, were appropriated to the tranfport ?

A. He received fuch directions.

Q. How many carts and ox-teams could be muftered at any one time ?

A. I think only 180 carts could at any one time be muftered ; the number of
ox-carts I really gc])rget, but I believe between 20 and g0. -

Q. About how many days provifion for the troops, and all other perfons fed
from the King’s ftores, could that number of carriages convey ?

A. There never was any trial made, but if I may prefume to judge from the
proportion brought forward, over and above the daily confumption of the army,
fhould fuppofe all thofe carriages would not carry more than four days provifions at
moft. I am fpeaking at random, as no trial was made. ;

Q. Did it not fometimes happen, from accidents of weather, and roads, and the
tired ftate of the cattle, that not more than one day’s provifion could be brought
forward in a day ?

A. It did. . _

Q. How many hours did it take, one hour with another, to draw a bateau
from Forg George to Fort Edward ?

A. In general about fix.

Q. Was not the unloading the carts at Fort Edward, and embarking the contents
in bateaux, unloading the bateaux at the upper falls of Fort Miller, and a fecond
time unloading them at the Jower falls, dilatory as it was, a more expeditious method
than it would have been to have carried the provifions the whole way in carts ?

_A. I do apprehend it was not poffible, in the feeble ftate I found the horfes fur-
nifhed by contradt, to have brought forward the daily confumption of provifions for
that army down to Fort Miller. In the month of Auguft, in the latter end of that
month, at which time I was appointed a commiffary general of horfe, 1 made, ?,:
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the firft of September, a general mufter, and found 30 horfes unferviceable, from
fatigue and hard labour. v

Q. Was the tranfport of provifions at any time impeded by the bringing forward
the artillery from Fort George ? ‘ ; { :

A. The artillery had a feparate contrat for horfes, with which they brought for-
ward their own ftores. I don’t recollet that any part of the provifion train were ever
employed in bringing forward artillery or artillery ftores. e

Q. Was it poffible, with the mcans we had, to colleCt a month’s ftore of provifions
fooner than it was collected !

A. 1believe not, without the utter ruin of the horfes furnifhed by contract for the
purpofe of tranfporting ftores. :

Q. Was you prefent in the action of the 1g9th of September ?

A. 1 was,

Q. Did the enemy difpute the field that day with obftinacy ?

A. They did, and the fire was much heavier than ever I faw it any where, unlefs at
the affair of Fors Anne. ‘

Q. Do you know how long the regiments of the Britith line were under that
fire ?

A. The three Britifh regiments (the 2o0th, 21ft, and 62d) were engaged from three
o’clock in the afternoon till feven in the evening ; and whilft I was a prifoner I heard
the rebel quarter-mafter general fay, theg had nine different regiments in the field, op-
pofed to the three Britifh I have named. :

Q. Do you know the lofs the three Britifth regiments fuftained 2

A. I can’t fay. .

Q. Do you remember the ftrength of the 62d regiment when they came out of the
action? -

A. Ican’t fpeak to the particular ftrength of the regiment when they came out of .
ation ; but I heard that they were not 100 rank and file. :

Q. How many officers were left in that regiment at the end of the action ?

A." 1 can’t anfwer that queftion.

Q. From the general ftate of the three Britifh regiments, do you think that they
would have been in a proper condition to have attacked the enemy the next morning 2 .

A. Certainly not; nor to go on any fervice whatever.

Q. About what time of the day did the enemy finally give way ?

A. They gave way very often; finally about fevenin t%c evening. .,

Q. Was 1t practicable, at that time of the evening, and in that kind of country, to
have purfued ? :

A. 1 thould think not.,

Q. Was you not often employed, between the day of that action and the action of
the 7th of Oétober, to reconnoitre ?

A..1 was. 4

Q. Was you able to obtain a view of the enemy’s pofition ?

A. T obtained a view of the pefition of the right of the rebel entrenchments.

|

37-mm8g What was the nature of their pofition to the right, with regard to entrenck-

A. They

&



‘A. Th v:ﬁ.pea!donl hill that came very near the river. On the top of the

hill was a ftrong breaft-werk, at the foot an abbatis.
Q. Did it appear to you that that wing of the enemy was attackable ?
A. Itis ao%ue&ion that is fearcely in my line of fervice to anfwer ; but as there are
no general officers, nor older officers than myfelf, who ferved under General Bur-
yne, I hope no military man will think me prefuming to give my opinion on that
ubje@t. I do think that we could not have attack right wing of the rebel
entrenchments without rifking the lofs of the whole arm¥, and with little probability
. of fuccefs. ' ‘
2. Could you obtain a view of the lefc wing of the enemy ?
A."1 neverfaw the left wing of the encmy's entrenchments till 1 was taken prifoner

and conduéted through their works.

Q.“Onth: 7th of October was you in a fituation to fee the encany advancing to the
attac .

of your left ?

A, Yes, _

Q. Did they advance undera well ferved fire of grape-fhot from owr artillery ?

A. I was in a firuation that gave me an opportunity of feeing the dire€tions of rhe
re' els’ columns; and I was very much aftonithed to hear the fhot from the enemy
fly fo thick, after our cannonade had lafted a quarter of an hour.

Q. When the Britifh grenadiers were forced laft from their poft, what enfued ?

A. I1did not fee the Britilgéircnadicrs forced back. 1 faw them on their march, as
I apprehended, taking a different pofition; at that time feveral of them broke their
ranﬁs, buton fome aid du camps calling to them for fhame, to continue their rank,
they marched away to their ftation in good order. A battalion of Brunfwickers that
were on the left of the artillery quitted their ground as foon as the firing began, and,
to the beft of my recolletiion, I did not fee they left a man bching them on the

round., I wouldadd, that after fome difficulty that battalion was broughe to make a
ftand in the rear of the artillery, but in no order.

Q. Was not'that battalion brought to that ftand by the a&ivity and exhortation of
Major General Reidefel ? .

A. I did not fee General Reidefel endeavour to ftop the battalion 5 but [ faw
anaid du camp of his and a brigade major, with their drawn fwords, keeping them
up. 1did fee General Reidefel immediately afterwards, on the right of the artillery,
with the battalion perfectly formed, and in good order.

Q. Do you imagine that the giving way of the battalion you firft deferibed was
the caufe that the artillery on that fpot was taken, and yourfelf and Major Williams
being made prifoners ? '

A. 1 believe it contributed, in ‘fome meafure, towards the lofs of the aétion on
that day; but before Sir Francis Clurke died of his wounds, he told me that he
received his wound in bringing orders for the artillery and the whole of the detach-
ment to return to camps; and to the circumftance of fir Francis Clarke’s being
wounded, | do artnbute the lofs of the artillery, if not the lofs of the whole army ?

Q. Had you an opportunity, after you was prifoner, 1o fee the left of the enemy’s
entrenchments ? & Ve :
i A, I had.

' : G 2 Q. Was
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Q. Was the ground within cannon - fhot of the left open and commanding it ?

A. Al the ground 1 faw was cleared and entrenched. v

Q_ Was there not ground ‘within cannon fhot that would have commanded thac
entrenchment on the left? ‘ i

A. There was,

-

. Q_ Had we gained poffeflion of that ground, and been able to erect batteries of

our heavieft guns, would ngtthe whole line of the enemy have been enfiladed ?

A. The ground alluded®o was entrenched, and commanded the whole of the
rebel camp and lines. It the army had got pofieflion of that ground, 1 do not believe
the rebels would have ftaid one hour in their camp, ,

Q. Did you ever hear, in converfation with the rebel officers, that General Ar-
nold, forefeeing that inconvenience, had marched out of his lines, and attacked,
without orders from General Gates ? :

A. I did hear that General Arnold had marched out on the 7th of October, without
orders from General Gates. Idid alfo hear that he advifed the going out to meet Gene-
ral Burgoyne onehis march, and cngagingBhim before he approached their lines ; and the
reafon he gave was this: If General Burgoyne fhould ever come near enough their
lines to be able to make ufe of his arrillery, that he would certainly pofiefs himfelf of
their camp ; that their troops in that cafe would never ftand any where; but if, on

-the other hand, the rebels fhould be defeated in the woods, the troops would, after

that, have confidence in their works, for which reafon Arnold advifed rifking an
action in the woods before General Burgoyne came near €nough to fee their works.

Examined by other Members of the Committee, and by General Burgoyne accafionally.

Q. Did not your fituation, as deputy quarter mafter general, lead you to mix very
much with the different officers of the army ? i

A. Tcdid. : .

Q. What do you" apprehend to have been the general opinion of the officers of
General Burgoyne’s conduct, as well in action as in the many trying occafions which
have been ftated by you at the bar? .

A. They entertained a very high opinion of General Burgoyne’s conduét.

Q. Had General Burgoyne the full confidence of the army under his command to
the lait moment ? »

A. He certainly had. A

. What was the army’s opinion of the rebels after their retreat from Ticonde-
roga

A. The army in al did not think, after they had evacuated Ticonderoga, that
they would mal)n" a m any where. a4 ' e

Q. What was the reafon given in your army for the ition to Bennington ?

A. 1 believe I cannot anfwer that queftion better than by reading an ab of the
General’s orders the day after that action.

f“ S
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“ It was endeavoured, among other objects, by the expedition which marched to
¢ the left, to pmuk‘i'uclh fnm of cattle as would have enabled the army to proceed
¢ without waiting the arrival of the magazines. . That attempt having failed of fuccels,
« through the chances of war, the troops muft neceffarily hait fome days for bringing
« forward the tranfports.”

Q. Why did the army remain from the 16th of Auguft to the 13th of September,
before they croffed the Hudfon’s River to engage the rebels as Seillwater ?

Q. To bring forward a fufficient quantity of provifions and artillery, to enable
the general to give up his communication. ,

. What was the opinion of the army on their croffing the Hudfon's River ?

A. They did think it was their indifpenfible dpty to procced forward and fight the
rebels, which we heard were then at Sullwater.

Q._Did you ever forage to the right of General Frafer’s camp before the 7th of
Auguft?

Ag? We never foraged to the right of the camp at Freeman's &arm, at any
one time; on the 7th of October, while the troops were in the field, General
Frafer ordered all the batmen -and drivers, belonging to his brigade, to come and
forage in the rear of the troops. :

Q. Do you know what was General Frafer’s opinion on your foraging to the
right? &
gA. [ do know that General Frafer mentioned to me, on the sth of O&ober,
that there was forage on the right of his camp; but at that time the ground on
which that forage was to be met with was in pofiefion of the rebels’ advanced

ft.
poQ_._, Do you think your army would have been loft, if even the expedition from
« New York had taken place a few days fooner ? ;

A. If the troops had arrived at New York foon enough to have enabled Sir
Henry Clinton to have made his expedition up the North River a week fooner, F
do conceive that our army would not have been loft.

Q. What was the opinion of the rebels on Sir William Howe’s going to the
fouthward. -

A. I was not acquainted epough with the rebel leaders, to hear their opinion
on that queftion. I do not think that the peafants of the country were judges of
the pro\gricty of Sir William Howe’s conduét.

. What was the opinion of the officers of General Burgoyne’s army, after it
was loft, relative to the croffing Hudfon’s River. : {

A. They did think that the alternative of retreating with their army to Ca-
nada, or proceeding to Stillwater, under the neceffity of giving up his commu-~
nication, to be an unfortunate fituation ; but I never heard any officers fay that
they thought General Burgoyne had done wrong ; many faid, that if they had re-
treated without rifking an aéien, at the time Sir Henry Clinton was coming up the
North River, the army wotld never have forgiven him, nor would he ever have
forgiven himfelf. i ;

. Was you at New York after the lofs of General Burgoyne’s army

j 3

A, Yes.
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“A. Yes, ' )

Q. What was 'the opinion or the language of the military at that place, relative to
Sir William Howe’s expedition to Penfylvania? & L

A. Whatever opinion was formed of Sir William Howe's expedition to Penfyl:
vania, or is formed previous to this enquiry, fuch an opinion muft have been ill-
founded, as Sir William Howe’s reafons were not known, nor his inftructions com-
municated to the public. i

Q. From your laft anfwer, is the commirtee to underftand that the opinions that
were formed refpecting Sir William Howe’s expedition to Philadelphia, before this
enquiry, were not in favour of that expedition ? j

Queftion objected to. (Withdrew.

Again called in.

Q. You have faid that the army thought it their indifpenfible dury to pzfs over

" Hudion’s River—Why -did they ‘think that that meafure was particularly their in-

difpenfible duty ? ;

" A. If the Hudfon’s River had not been there, the army would have thought
it their indifpenfible duty to have gone and rifked an action before they returned ro
Canada. If I recolle¢t right, I faid, that if the army had returned to Canada,
without fighting, that the army would never have forgiven the general, nor the

b general have forgiven himfelf.

66.

68.

. Do you know the nature of the country, between the place where we paffed
the Hudfon’s River and. Albany, on the eaft fide of the river ?

A. Yes, I do. :
Q. Ceuld the army have taken that route, in order to pafs the river oppofite or
near to Albany ? G
A. The army could not have taken that route, as part of the way was a fwamp,
and on the right of the rebel entrenchments was a mountain very rugged, and not

paffable nearer than.two miles from the river. :

Q. Was it not a peceflary confequence then, that the boats muft have been aban-
doned, if the army had taken that route ? : ,

A. T think I have faid the army could not take that route; if the army had
marched on the eaft of the Hudfon’s River, they could not have marched near
enough to have covered their provifion bateaux from the rebel force, on the weft
fide of the river. : .

Q. Did the army under General Burgoyne, on their approach to Albany, ex-

" pect a co-operation of the army under Sir William Howe, upon the North

River? ;

A. They did; and this is the order of General Burgoyne, given O&ober the
3d at Freeman’s Farm :

““ T'here is reafon to be affured, that other powerful armies zre actually in co-
‘* operation with thefe troops ; and although the prefent fupply of provifion is ample,
“¢ it is highly deiirable, to prepare for any continuance in the field that the King’s

#¢ fervice may require, without the delay of bringing forward further ftores for
‘ “ thofe



s

o VbiD BN Ol
« thofe purpofu;j the ration of bread or flour is, for the prefent, fixed at one

“ nd” gl R
@ Are you acquainted with the North River, from New York to Al-

bany ?

A. I am not. ; :

Q. Hov;r many days march from Fort Edward to Albany, if no interruption from
an enemy " g

A. I cannot anfwer that queftion, unlefs I am to fuppofe that a bridge was
ready formed for the troops to pafs over, on fome part of Hudfon’s River,
between Batten Kill and Fort Edward, or that there were veflels ready to tranfport
the troops over Hudfon’s River.

Q. Is the diftance fo great between Fort Edward and Albany, that the army
could not carry provifions with them to fupport them during the march?
. A. Certainly Albany is not at fo great a diftance from Fort Edward, but
that a corps of troops might certainly carry provifions fufficient for the march

to Albany. ,
Q. Was it not underftood, that if you had arrived at Albany, that tHe army

would find plenty of provifions there ?

A. It was generally believed, and I be%nit myfelf firmly, that if the army

had got to Albany, we fhould have found a ber of loyal fubjets, that would

have joined and done every thing in their gower to have eftablifhed the army
at that place.

Q. Muft not the army, to mlrch from Fort Edward to Albany, have neceffa-
rily carried a number of boats to form a bridge to pafs the river ?

A. There was no paffing the river well without a bridge of boats, and there
were not fcouls cnougE on that river, to make a bridge. '
» Q. Would not the neceffary delay, arifing from carrying forward thofe boats,
and. throwing a bridge, fit to pafs an army, have confumed more time than it
was poflible %or. that army to fubfit with fuch provifion as they could carry with
them ?

A. 1 fhould think it would,
Q. You will give the committee what information you can, refpecting a road

from Fort Edward to Albany, on the left fide of the river.
A. I have anfwered that fully.
Q. Whether by taking a pretty large circuit, the army would have reached Al-
bany, and avoided the fwamps you mentioned ? " ;
A. Certainly not on the eaft fide of the river, becaufe the enemy being on the op-
ofite fhore; would certainly have oppofed General Burgoyne's army croffing the
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Hudfon’s River ar Albany, the river being three times the width it is at Sara-

ne- g o '
‘ (Withdrew.
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EVIDENCE [Eart of Harrington.

Mariis v° die Yunii, 1779.
Mr. F. Montagu in the Chair.

EarL oF HarrineTON called in and examined by General Burgoyne.

Q. IN ‘what capacity did your Lordfhip ferve in America in the campaign
iy b e . iy

A. 1 was captain in the 29th regiment of foot, and went on the expedition with
General Burgoyne, with the command of the %renadicr company ; I was after-
wards appointed fupernumerary aid du camp to the general.

. While a&ting as captain of the grenadier company, Was you at the altion
of Huberton ?

A. T was, "

. What was ‘the behaviour of the enemy on that day ?

A. They behaved in the beginning of the aftion, with a great deal of fpirit; but
on the Britifh troops ruthing on them with their bayonets, they gave way in great
confufion. o .

Q. From the nature of the country, was it praticable to purfue the enemy fur-
ther than they were purfued on that occafion ? '

A. Certainly not.—I think we ran fome rifque even in purfuing them fo
far. :

Q. At what time of the campaign was it that General Burgoyne requefted your
Lordhip to aét as his aid du camp?

A. T think about the 12th of July.

Q. Was you. prefent a few days after that time, at a council held with the Indi-
ans of the remote. pations, then juft arrived, under the conduét of Major Camp-
bell and Mr. St. Luc?

A. Yes. ,

Q. Was you prefent at a former council of the Indians held at Lake
Champlain ?

Al Yol

Q. What was the tenor of General Burgoyne’s {peeches and injunétions at both
thofe councils refpe&ing the reftraint of barbarities ?

A. He abfolutely forbid their fcalping, except their dead prifoners, which they
infifted on doing, and he held out rewards to them for bringing in prifoners, and
enjoined them to treat them well.



